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FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE  
 
 
Perpetual (Asia) Limited (the “Trustee”) is under a duty to take into custody and hold the assets of 
Frasers Logistics & Industrial Trust (“Trust”) held by it or through its subsidiaries (collectively the 
“Group”) in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) of units in the Trust (the “Units”). In accordance with the 
Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, its subsidiary legislation and the Code on 
Collective Investment Schemes and the Listing Manual (collectively referred to as the “Regulations”), 
the Trustee shall monitor the activities of Frasers Logistics & Industrial Asset Management Pte. Ltd. 
(the “Manager”) for compliance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers 
as set out in the Trust Deed dated 30 November 2015 (as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) between the 
Manager and the Trustee in each annual accounting period and report thereon to Unitholders in an 
annual report.  
 
To the best knowledge of the Trustee, the Manager has, in all material respects, managed the Group 
during the financial year covered by these financial statements set out on pages 7 to 92, in accordance 
with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers set out in the Trust Deed. 
 
 
 
For and on behalf of the Trustee, 
Perpetual (Asia) Limited 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sin Li Choo 
Director 
 
 
Singapore  
27 November 2019 
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FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES  
STATEMENT BY THE MANAGER  
 
 
In the opinion of the directors of Frasers Logistics & Industrial Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (the “Manager”), 
the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 7 to 92, comprising the consolidated statement of 
financial position and consolidated portfolio statement of the Group and the statement of financial position of 
the Trust as at 30 September 2019, the consolidated statement of total return, consolidated distribution 
statement, consolidated statement of movements in unitholders’ funds and consolidated statement of cash 
flows of the Group and the statement of movements in unitholders’ funds of the Trust for the year ended 
30 September 2019, and notes to the financial statements are drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial positions of the Group and the Trust and the portfolio holdings of the Group as at 
30 September 2019, the total return, distributable income, movements in unitholders’ funds and cash flows 
of the Group and the movements in unitholders’ funds of the Trust for the year ended 30 September 2019 in 
accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 Reporting 
Framework for Unit Trusts issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and the provisions of 
the Trust Deed. 
 
At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and the Trust will be 
able to meet their financial obligations as and when they materialise. 
 
 
 
For and on behalf of the Manager,  
Frasers Logistics & Industrial Asset Management Pte. Ltd.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ho Hon Cheong 
Director 

Goh Yong Chian  
Director 

 
 
Singapore  
27 November 2019 
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Independent auditors’ report 
 
Unitholders of Frasers Logistics & Industrial Trust 
(Constituted in the Republic of Singapore pursuant to the Trust Deed dated 30 November 2015 
(as amended)) 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Frasers Logistics & Industrial Trust (the “Trust”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position and 
consolidated portfolio statement of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Trust 
as at 30 September 2019, the consolidated statement of total return, consolidated distribution 
statement, consolidated statement of movements in unitholders’ funds and consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of movements in unitholders’ funds of the 
Trust for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 7 to 92. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the 
statement of financial position and statement of movements in unitholders’ funds of the Trust 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and the portfolio holdings 
of the Group and the financial position of the Trust as at 30 September 2019 and the consolidated 
total return, consolidated distributable income, consolidated movements in unitholders’ funds and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group and the movements in unitholders’ funds of the Trust for the 
year ended on that date in accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended 
Accounting Practice 7 (“RAP 7”) Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts issued by the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the ACRA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Valuation of investment properties 
(Refer to Note 10 of the financial statements) 
 
Risk 
 
The Group owns a portfolio of industrial properties in Australia, Germany and the Netherlands 
that are leased to third parties under operating leases.  Investment properties represent the 
largest category of assets on the consolidated statement of financial position, with a carrying 
value of approximately A$3.6 billion as at 30 September 2019. 
 
These investment properties are stated at their fair values based on independent external 
valuations.  The valuation process involves significant judgement in determining the appropriate 
valuation methodology to be used, and in estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. 
The valuations are sensitive to key assumptions applied and a change in the assumptions may 
have an impact on the valuations. 
 
Our response 
 
We evaluated the qualifications and competence of the external valuers. We considered the 
valuation methodologies used against those applied by other valuers for similar property types.  
We evaluated the appropriateness of the key assumptions used in the valuations by comparing 
them to available industry data, taking into consideration comparability and market factors.  
 
Our findings 
 
We found the external valuers to be objective and competent.  The valuers are members of 
generally-recognised professional bodies for valuers.  The valuation methodologies used are in 
line with generally accepted market practices and the key assumptions used are comparable to 
available market data. 
 
Other information 
 
Frasers Logistics & Industrial Asset Management Pte. Ltd., the Manager of the Trust (the 
“Manager”), is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report.  Other 
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. 
 
We have obtained About Frasers Logistics & Industrial Trust, Trust Structure, FY2019 Highlights, 
Letter to Unitholders, Conversations with the CEO, Board of Directors, Management Team, Our 
Strategy, Financial Review, Australia Industrial & Logistics Market Overview, Germany Industrial 
& Logistics Market Overview, The Netherlands Industrial & Logistics Market Overview, 
Operational Review, Portfolio Overview, Property Profiles, Investor Relations, Unit Performance, 
Corporate Information, Risk Management, Sustainability Report, Corporate Governance Report, 
Use of Proceeds and Interested Person Transactions prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and 
the Unitholders’ Statistics, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
  



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Independent auditors’ report 

Financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

5 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
When we read the Unitholders’ Statistics, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Manager and take appropriate actions 
in accordance with SSAs. 
  
Responsibilities of the Manager for the financial statements 
 
The Manager of the Trust is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the recommendations of RAP 7 issued by the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants, and for such internal control as the Manager determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Manager is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager either intends to terminate the 
Group or to cease operations of the Group, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Manager’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the 
Manager and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
controls that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Manager with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Manager, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations 
preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Lo Mun Wai. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KPMG LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Singapore 
27 November 2019 
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  Group 
 Note 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Revenue 3 240,758 195,766 
Property operating expenses 4 (41,407) (33,975) 
Net property income  199,351 161,791 
    
Managers’ management fees 5 (19,332) (14,780) 
Trustees’ fees  (457) (355) 
Trust expenses  (2,890) (1,932) 
Exchange losses (net)  (3,256) (6,451) 
Finance income  1,161 1,321 
Finance costs 6 (27,882) (23,805) 
Net income  146,695 115,789 
    
Gain on divestment of investment properties  1,649 23,446 
Net change in fair value of investment properties 10 121,989 72,411 
Net change in fair value of derivatives   2,101 2,349 
Total return for the year before tax  272,434 213,995 
Tax expense 7 (44,530) (34,361) 
Total return for the year  8 227,904 179,634 
    
Total return attributable to:    
Unitholders  225,617 178,728 
Non-controlling interests  2,287 906 
  227,904 179,634 
    
Earnings per Unit (Australian cents)    
Basic 9 10.96 10.57 
Diluted 9 10.89 10.48 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Amount available for distribution to Unitholders at  

beginning of the year  51,615 25,211 
Total return for the year attributable to Unitholders  225,617 178,728 
Tax related and other adjustments (Note A)  (80,037) (62,387) 
  145,580 116,341 
Distribution from divestment gain  4,256 2,000 
    
Amount available for distribution to Unitholders  201,451 143,552 
    
Distributions to Unitholders:    
Distribution of 1.68 Singapore cents per Unit for the period 

from 6 July 2017 to 30 September 2017  – (25,115) 
Distribution of 3.61 Singapore cents per Unit for the period 

from 1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018  – (51,768) 
Distribution of 1.01 Singapore cents per Unit for the period 

from 1 April 2018 to 20 May 2018  – (15,054) 
Distribution of 2.57 Singapore cents per Unit for the period 

from 21 May 2018 to 30 September 2018   (51,591) – 
Distribution of 3.54 Singapore cents per Unit for the period 

from 1 October 2018 to 31 March 2019  (73,665) – 
  (125,256) (91,937) 
    
Amount available for distribution to Unitholders 

at end of the year  76,195 51,615 
    
Distribution per Unit (Australian cents)  7.27 6.94 
    
Distribution per Unit (Singapore cents)   7.00 7.19 
    
Note A    
Tax related and other adjustments relate to the following items:    
    
Straight-lining of rental adjustments  (3,440) (6,393) 
Managers’ management fees paid/payable in Units  17,815 13,035 
Exchange losses (net)  3,295 6,444 
Gain on divestment of investment properties  (1,649) (23,446) 
Net change in fair value of investment properties  (121,989) (72,411) 
Net change in fair value of derivatives  (2,101) (2,349) 
Deferred tax  25,908 20,120 
Other adjustments  2,124 2,613 
Net distribution adjustments  (80,037) (62,387) 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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  Group  Trust 
 Note 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Non-current assets        
Investment properties 10 3,554,142 2,978,204  – – 
Investment in subsidiaries 11 – –  914,938 858,036 
Loans to subsidiaries 12 – –  1,848,932 1,568,967 
Derivative assets 13 2,117 1,133  2,117 1,133 
  3,556,259 2,979,337  2,765,987 2,428,136 
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents   14 128,381 105,664  47,608 53,130 
Trade and other receivables 15 14,176 9,691  62,111 26,154 
Derivative assets 13 2,070 283  2,070 283 
Investment property held for sale 10 18,000 –  – – 
  162,627 115,638  111,789 79,567 
       
Total assets  3,718,886 3,094,975  2,877,776 2,507,703 
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 16 53,217 40,404  3,445 2,408 
Borrowings 17 206,237 219,654  112,627 169,619 
Derivative liabilities 13 1,072 148  1,072 148 
Current tax liabilities  10,429 6,741  144 84 
  270,955 266,947  117,288 172,259 
Non-current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 16 3,367 2,459  – – 
Borrowings 17 1,029,555 845,121  650,923 495,722 
Derivative liabilities 13 9,674 620  6,647 620 
Deferred tax liabilities  18 62,598 36,574  – – 
  1,105,194 884,774  657,570 496,342 
       
Total liabilities  1,376,149 1,151,721  774,858 668,601 
       
Net assets  2,342,737 1,943,254  2,102,918 1,839,102 
       
Represented by:       
Unitholders’ funds  2,313,810 1,924,388  2,102,918 1,839,102 
Non-controlling interests 19 28,927 18,866  – – 
  2,342,737 1,943,254  2,102,918 1,839,102 
       
Units in issue and to be issued 

(’000) 20 2,258,878 2,022,125  2,258,878 2,022,125 
       
Net asset value per Unit (A$) 21 1.02 0.95  0.93 0.91 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Note 

Attributable 
to 

Unitholders 

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Group     
     
At 1 October 2018  1,924,388 18,866 1,943,254 
     
Operations      
Increase in net assets resulting from 

operations  225,617 2,287 227,904 
     
Transactions with owners     
Issue of new Units: 20    
- Private placement  274,328 – 274,328 
- Managers’ management fees 

paid/payable in Units  17,815 – 17,815 
- Managers’ acquisition fees paid/payable 

in Units   2,783 – 2,783 
Unit issue costs  (4,376) – (4,376) 
Distributions paid to Unitholders 22 (125,256) – (125,256) 
Net increase in net assets resulting from 

transactions with owners   165,294 – 165,294 
     
Hedging reserve     
Effective portion of change in fair value of 

cash flow hedges  (7,966) (56) (8,022) 
Decrease in net assets resulting from 

hedging reserve  (7,966) (56) (8,022) 
     
Foreign currency translation reserve     
Translation differences relating to financial 

statements of foreign subsidiaries  6,334 197 6,531 
Exchange differences on hedge of net 

investments in foreign operations  143 – 143 
Increase in net assets resulting from 

foreign currency translation reserve  6,477 197 6,674 
     
Changes in ownership interests in 

subsidiaries      
Acquisition of subsidiaries with non-

controlling interests   – 7,633 7,633 
     
At 30 September 2019  2,313,810 28,927 2,342,737 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Note 

Attributable 
to  

Unitholders 

Non- 
Controlling 

interests Total 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Group     
     
At 1 October 2017  1,337,516 – 1,337,516 
     
Operations      
Increase in net assets resulting from 

operations  178,728 906 179,634 
     
Transactions with owners     
Issue of new Units: 20    
- Private placement  324,711 – 324,711 
- Preferential offering  144,872 – 144,872 
- Managers’ management fees 

paid/payable in Units  13,035 – 13,035 
- Managers’ acquisition fees paid/payable 

in Units  4,729 – 4,729 
Unit issue costs  (5,351) – (5,351) 
Distributions paid to Unitholders 22 (91,937) – (91,937) 
Net increase in net assets resulting from 

transactions with owners   390,059 – 390,059 
     
Hedging reserve     
Effective portion of change in fair value of 

cash flow hedges  (2,364) – (2,364) 
Decrease in net assets resulting from 

hedging reserve  (2,364) – (2,364) 
     
Foreign currency translation reserve     
Translation differences relating to financial 

statements of foreign subsidiaries  20,449 716 21,165 
Increase in net assets resulting from 

foreign currency translation reserve  20,449 716 21,165 
     
Changes in ownership interests in 

subsidiaries      
Acquisition of subsidiaries with  

non-controlling interests  – 17,244 17,244 
     
At 30 September 2018  1,924,388 18,866 1,943,254 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Trust    
    
At 1 October  1,839,102 1,333,309 
    
Operations     
Increase in net assets resulting from operations  105,506 118,098 
    
Transactions with owners    
Issue of new Units: 20   
- Private placement  274,328 324,711 
- Preferential offering  – 144,872 
- Managers’ management fees paid/payable in Units  17,815 13,035 
- Managers’ acquisition fees paid/payable in Units  2,783 4,729 
Unit issue costs  (4,376) (5,351) 
Distributions paid to Unitholders 22 (125,256) (91,937) 
Net increase in net assets resulting from transactions 

with owners  165,294 390,059 
    
Hedging reserve    
Effective portion of change in fair value of cash flow hedges  (6,984) (2,364) 
Decrease in net assets resulting from hedging reserve  (6,984) (2,364) 
    
At 30 September   2,102,918 1,839,102 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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  Group 
 Note  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Total return before tax  272,434 213,995 
Adjustments for:    
Straight-lining of rental adjustments   (3,440) (6,393) 
Effects of recognising lease incentives on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term   (1,160) (3,075) 
Managers’ management fees paid/payable in Units  17,815 13,035 
Unrealised exchange losses/(gains) (net)  905 (1,254) 
Finance income  (1,161) (1,321) 
Finance costs 6 27,882 23,805 
Gain on divestment of investment properties  (1,649) (23,446) 
Net change in fair value of investment properties  10 (121,989) (72,411) 
Net change in fair value of derivatives  (2,101) (2,349) 
Cash generated from operations before working capital changes  187,536 140,586 
Changes in working capital:    
Trade and other receivables  2,461 246 
Trade and other payables  (16,633) (5,557) 
Cash generated from operations  173,364 135,275 
Tax paid  (15,863) (11,373) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  157,501 123,902 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of subsidiaries 30 (304,109) (460,761) 
Acquisition of investment properties (including acquisition costs)   (125,900) (63,076) 
Stamp duty incurred on acquisition of investment properties  (7,105) (3,554) 
Net proceeds from divestment of investment properties  149,683 98,665 
Capital expenditure on investment properties  (13,334) (62,417) 
Interest received  1,193 795 
Net cash used in investing activities  (299,572) (490,348) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Interest paid  (24,519) (21,283) 
Issuance of new Units   274,328 469,583 
Unit issue costs   (4,376) (5,351) 
Proceeds from borrowings  411,337 295,310 
Repayment of borrowings  (362,988) (231,887) 
Payment of upfront debt-related transaction costs  (4,969) (2,004) 
Distributions paid to Unitholders  (125,256) (91,937) 
Net cash generated from financing activities  163,557 412,431 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  21,486 45,985 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  105,664 56,097 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,231 3,582 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 128,381 105,664 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Significant non cash transactions 
 
During the year, there were the following significant non-cash transactions: 
 
 14,499,712 (2018: 12,049,975) Units, amounting to A$16,122,000 (2018: A$12,459,000), were 

issued to the Managers as satisfaction of the management fees paid/payable to the Managers. 
 
 475,615 (2018: 5,038,244) Units, amounting to A$515,000 (2018: A$4,889,000), were issued to 

the Managers as satisfaction of the acquisition fees paid/payable to the Managers for the 
acquisition of certain investment properties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Group 

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying  
amount 

Carrying  
amount 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of 
 net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
   A$'000 A$'000 % % 
       
A) Australia       
Melbourne, Victoria       
South East       
South Park Industrial Estate       
98-126 South Park Drive, Dandenong South 14 June 2016 Freehold 37,500 36,000 1.6 1.9 
21-33 South Park Drive, Dandenong South 14 June 2016 Freehold 26,500 25,500 1.1 1.3 
22-26 Bam Wine Court, Dandenong South 14 June 2016 Freehold 24,500 23,500 1.1 1.2 
63-79 South Park Drive, Dandenong South 14 June 2016 Freehold – 15,250 – 0.8 
16-32 South Park Drive, Dandenong South 14 June 2016 Freehold 15,250 13,500 0.7 0.7 
89-103 South Park Drive, Dandenong South 1 August 2017 Freehold 15,000 13,900 0.6 0.7 
       

The Key Industrial Park       
17 Pacific Drive and 170-172 Atlantic Drive, 

Keysborough 14 June 2016 Freehold 42,500 36,250 1.8 1.9 
150-168 Atlantic Drive, Keysborough 14 June 2016 Freehold 37,000 36,500 1.6 1.9 
49-75 Pacific Drive, Keysborough 14 June 2016 Freehold 31,000 31,000 1.3 1.6 
77 Atlantic Drive, Keysborough 14 June 2016 Freehold 21,200 20,000 0.9 1.0 
78 & 88 Atlantic Drive, Keysborough 14 June 2016 Freehold 18,200 17,100 0.8 0.9 
111 Indian Drive, Keysborough 31 August 2016 Freehold 38,500 35,250 1.7 1.8 
29 Indian Drive, Keysborough  15 August 2017 Freehold 35,000 32,400 1.5 1.7 
17 Hudson Court, Keysborough 12 September 2017 Freehold 34,300 32,300 1.5 1.7 
8-28 Hudson Court, Keysborough 20 August 2019 Freehold 36,800 – 1.6 – 
       

Clayton South & Mulgrave       
211A Wellington Road, Mulgrave 14 June 2016 Freehold 40,000 40,200 1.7 2.1 
610-638 Heatherton Road, Clayton South 14 June 2016 Freehold – (b) 18,000 – 0.9 
       

West       
West Park Industrial Estate       
468 Boundary Road, Derrimut 14 June 2016 Freehold 36,600 25,000 1.6 1.3 
1 Doriemus Drive, Truganina 14 June 2016 Freehold 95,000 88,500 4.1 4.6 
2-22 Efficient Drive, Truganina 14 June 2016 Freehold 46,500 46,250 2.0 2.4 
1-13 and 15-27 Sunline Drive, Truganina 14 June 2016 Freehold 31,500 30,000 1.4 1.6 
       

Balance carried forward 662,850 616,400 28.6 32.0 
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Group 

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying  
amount 

Carrying  
amount  

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
    A$’000 A$'000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   662,850 616,400 28.6 32.0 
       
Melbourne, Victoria (cont’d)       
West (cont’d)       
West Park Industrial Estate (cont’d)       
42 Sunline Drive, Truganina  14 June 2016 Freehold 17,200 17,300 0.7 0.9 
43 Efficient Drive, Truganina 1 August 2017 Freehold 25,900 25,700 1.1 1.3 
       
Altona Industrial Park       
18-34 Aylesbury Drive, Altona 14 June 2016 Freehold 27,000 26,800 1.2 1.4 
       
North       
Melbourne Airport Business Park       
38-52 Sky Road East, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on 

30 June 2047 
28,000 27,750 1.2 1.4 

96-106 Link Road, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on  
30 June 2047 

26,300 26,300 1.1 1.4 

17-23 Jets Court, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on  
30 June 2047 

7,700 7,700 0.4 0.4 

25-29 Jets Court, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on  
30 June 2047 

11,100 11,000 0.5 0.6 

28-32 Sky Road East, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on  
30 June 2047 

7,750 9,500 0.4 0.5 

115-121 South Centre Road, Melbourne Airport 14 June 2016 31-year leasehold expiring on  
30 June 2047 

5,300 5,100 0.2 0.3 

       
City Fringe       
Port Melbourne       
2-46 Douglas Street, Port Melbourne 14 June 2016 37-year leasehold expiring on  

30 March 2053 
22,600 22,600 1.0 1.2 

       
Balance carried forward 841,700 796,150 36.4 41.4 
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Group 

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying  
amount 

Carrying  
amount  

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
    A$’000 A$'000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   841,700 796,150 36.4 41.4 
       

Sydney, New South Wales       
Outer Central West       
Eastern Creek       
4-8 Kangaroo Avenue, Eastern Creek 14 June 2016 Freehold 85,400 80,750 3.7 4.2 
21 Kangaroo Avenue, Eastern Creek 14 June 2016 Freehold 72,500 72,500 3.1 3.8 
17 Kangaroo Avenue, Eastern Creek 14 June 2016 Freehold 47,300 44,750 2.0 2.3 
7 Eucalyptus Place, Eastern Creek 14 June 2016 Freehold 32,800 30,750 1.4 1.6 
2 Hanson Place, Eastern Creek 20 August 2019 Freehold 68,500 – 3.0 – 
       

Pemulwuy       
8-8A Reconciliation Rise, Pemulwuy 14 June 2016 Freehold 47,400 43,000 2.0 2.2 
6 Reconciliation Rise, Pemulwuy 14 June 2016 Freehold 42,300 38,500 1.8 2.0 
       

Wetherill Park       
1 Burilda Close, Wetherill Park 30 November 2016 90-year leasehold expiring on  

29 September 2106 70,500 66,000 3.0 3.4 
Lot 1, 2 Burilda Close, Wetherill Park 1 August 2017 89-year leasehold expiring on 14 July 2106 26,300 25,100 1.1 1.3 
3 Burilda Close, Wetherill Park 5 September 2018 89-year leasehold expiring on 15 May 2107 36,400 32,300 1.6 1.7 
       

Outer North West       
Seven Hills       
8 Distribution Place, Seven Hills 14 June 2016 Freehold 26,300 26,400 1.2 1.4 
99 Station Road, Seven Hills 14 June 2016 Freehold 20,300 20,500 0.9 1.1 
10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills 14 June 2016 Freehold 13,500 13,500 0.6 0.7 
8 Stanton Road, Seven Hills 1 August 2017 Freehold 19,100 18,900 0.8 1.0 
       

Winston Hills       
11 Gibbon Road, Winston Hills 14 June 2016 Freehold 48,000 44,000 2.1 2.3 
       

Port Kembla (Wollongong)       
Port Kembla (Wollongong)       
Lot 104 & 105 Springhill Road, Port Kembla 14 June 2016 33-year leasehold, expiring on  

13 August 2049 (c) for Lot 104 and  
20 August 2049 (c) for Lot 105  26,400 26,250 1.2 1.3 

Balance carried forward 1,524,700 1,379,350 65.9 71.7 
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Group 

 
Location of property 

 
Acquisition date 

 
Tenure (a) 

Carrying 
 amount 

Carrying  
amount  

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
    A$’000 A$'000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   1,524,700 1,379,350 65.9 71.7 
       
Brisbane, Queensland        
99 Sandstone Place, Parkinson  20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 135,000 (d) 245,000 5.8 12.7 
350 Earnshaw Road, Northgate 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 58,800 55,500 2.5 2.9 
286 Queensport Road, North Murarrie 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 40,000 38,250 1.7 2.0 
57-71 Platinum Street, Crestmead 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 44,200 38,000 1.9 2.0 
51 Stradbroke Street, Heathwood 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 27,400 24,400 1.2 1.3 
30 Flint Street, Inala 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 26,500 25,500 1.1 1.3 
99 Shettleston Street, Rocklea 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 23,100 22,800 1.0 1.2 
55-59 Boundary Road, Carole Park 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 19,800 16,550 0.9 0.8 
10 Siltstone Place, Berrinba 20 June 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on 19 June 2115 16,000 13,500 0.7 0.7 
143 Pearson Road, Yatala 31 August 2016 99-year leasehold expiring on  

30 August 2115 
41,400 39,500 1.8 2.0 

166 Pearson Road, Yatala 1 August 2017 Freehold 40,500 35,900 1.8 1.9 
103-131 Wayne Goss Drive, Berrinba 5 September 2018 Freehold 32,800 31,500 1.4 1.6 
29-51 Wayne Goss Drive, Berrinba 20 August 2019  Freehold 25,600 – 1.1 – 
       
Adelaide, South Australia & Perth, Western 
Australia 

      

20-22 Butler Boulevard, Adelaide Airport 14 June 2016 81-year leasehold expiring on 27 May 2097 (e) 10,500 11,000 0.5 0.6 
18-20 Butler Boulevard, Adelaide Airport 14 June 2016 81-year leasehold expiring on 27 May 2097 (e) 7,000 7,400 0.3 0.4 
5 Butler Boulevard, Adelaide Airport 14 June 2016 81-year leasehold expiring on 27 May 2097 (e) 8,400 8,900 0.4 0.5 
60 Paltridge Road, Perth Airport 14 June 2016 17-year leasehold expiring on 3 June 2033 12,250 15,600 0.5 0.8 
       
Balance carried forward 2,093,950 2,008,650 90.5 104.4 
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Group 

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying  
amount 

Carrying 
amount 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of  
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
   A$’000 A$’000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   2,093,950 2,008,650 90.5 104.4 

       
B) Germany       
Stuttgart – Mannheim        
Industriepark 309, Gottmadingen 25 May 2018 Freehold 77,648 76,550 3.4 4.0 
Otto-Hahn-Straße 10, Vaihingen 25 May 2018 Freehold 82,479 80,292 3.6 4.2 
Eiselauer Weg 2, Ulm 25 May 2018 Freehold 69,543 67,387 3.0 3.5 
Murrer Straße 1, Freiberg 25 May 2018 Freehold 56,153 53,961 2.4 2.8 
Ambros-Nehren-Straße 1, Achern 25 May 2018 Freehold 22,695 21,842 1.0 1.1 
Bietigheimer Straße 50-52, Tamm 23 August 2019 Freehold 112,500 – 4.9 – 
Am Bühlfeld 2-8, Herbrechtingen 3 September 2019 Freehold 53,170 – 2.3 – 
       
Munich – Nuremberg        
Oberes Feld 2, 4, 6, 8, Moosthenning 25 May 2018 Freehold 112,208 110,557 4.8 5.8 
Koperstraße 10, Nuremberg 25 May 2018 63-year leasehold expiring on  

31 December 2080 
73,401 69,925 3.2 3.6 

Industriepark 1, Mamming 25 May 2018 Freehold 25,612 25,310 1.1 1.3 
Jubatus-Allee 3, Ebermannsdorf 25 May 2018 Freehold 12,482 12,318 0.5 0.6 
Dieselstraße 30, Garching 27 August 2019 Freehold 48,631 – 2.1 – 
Hermesstraße 5, Graben, Augsburg 3 September 2019 Freehold 54,791 – 2.4 – 
       
Hamburg – Bremen        
Am Krainhop 10, Isenbüttel  25 May 2018 Freehold 29,017 27,808 1.2 1.4 
Am Autobahnkreuz 14, Rastede 25 May 2018 Freehold 29,989 30,321 1.3 1.6 
       
Balance carried forward 2,954,269 2,584,921 127.7 134.3 
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Group       

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying 
amount 

Carrying  
amount 

Percentage of 
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of 
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
   A$’000 A$’000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   2,954,269 2,584,921 127.7 134.3 
       
Dusseldorf – Cologne        
Saalhoffer Straße 211, Rheinberg 25 May 2018 Freehold 46,848 45,699 2.0 2.4 
Elbestraße 1-3, Marl 25 May 2018 Freehold 23,343 23,174 1.0 1.2 
Keffelker Straße 66, Brilon 25 May 2018 Freehold 16,373 16,333 0.7 0.9 
Gustav-Stresemann-Weg 1, Münster 25 May 2018 Freehold 24,964 23,576 1.1 1.2 
Walter-Gropius-Straße 19, Bergheim 23 August 2019 Freehold 31,327 – 1.4 – 
An den Dieken 94, Ratingen 23 August 2019 Freehold 74,892 – 3.2 – 
       
Leipzig – Chemnitz       
Johann-Esche-Straße 2, Chemnitz  25 May 2018 Freehold 27,233 26,900 1.2 1.4 
Am Exer 9, Leipzig 25 May 2018 Freehold 22,532 21,552 1.0 1.1 
       
Frankfurt         
Im Birkengrund 5-7, Obertshausen 23 August 2019 Freehold 47,983 – 2.1 – 
       
C) Netherlands       
Tilburg – Venlo        
Belle van Zuylenstraat 5, Tilburg; 
Mraga Klompeweg 7, Tilburg 

25 May 2018 Freehold 24,915 23,849 1.1 1.3 

Heierhoevenweg 17, Venlo 25 May 2018 Freehold 43,930 42,061 1.9 2.2 
       
Utrecht – Zeewolde        
Brede Steeg 1, s-Heerenberg 25 May 2018 Freehold 107,637 106,156 4.6 5.5 
Handelsweg 26, Zeewolde 25 May 2018 Freehold 65,749 63,983 2.8 3.3 
       
Balance carried forward   3,511,995 2,978,204 151.8 154.8 
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Group       

Location of property Acquisition date Tenure (a) 
Carrying  
amount 

Carrying 
amount 

Percentage of 
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

Percentage of 
net assets 

attributable to 
Unitholders 

   2019 2018 2019 2018 
   A$’000 A$’000 % % 
       
Balance brought forward   3,511,995 2,978,204 151.8 154.8 
       
Meppel       
Mandeveld 12, Meppel 31 October 2018 Freehold 42,147 – 1.8 – 
Total investment properties   3,554,142 2,978,204 153.6 154.8 
       
Investment property held for sale       
       
Australia       
Melbourne, Victoria       
South East       
Clayton South & Mulgrave       
610-638 Heatherton Road, Clayton South  14 June 2016 Freehold 18,000 (b) – 0.8 – 
       
Total investment properties and investment 

property held for sale   3,572,142 2,978,204 154.4 154.8 
Other assets and liabilities (net)   (1,229,405) (1,034,950) (53.1) (53.8) 
Net assets of the Group   2,342,737 1,943,254 101.3 101.0 
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests   (28,927) (18,866) (1.3) (1.0) 
Unitholders’ funds   2,313,810 1,924,388 100.0 100.0 
       
 
 
(a) From the date of acquisition. 

(b) Transferred to investment property held for sale. 

(c) Includes an option for the Trust to renew the land lease for 5 further terms of 5 years upon expiry. 

(d) The Group divested 50% of its interest in the property during the year. The carrying amount represents the Group’s remaining 50% interest in the property. 

(e) Includes an option for the Trust to renew the land lease for a further term of 49 years upon expiry. 
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager and the Trustee on 27 November 2019. 
 
 
1. General 

 
Frasers Logistics & Industrial Trust (the “Trust”) is a Singapore-domiciled unit trust constituted in 
Singapore pursuant to the Trust Deed dated 30 November 2015 (as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) 
between Frasers Logistics & Industrial Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (the “Manager”) and Perpetual 
(Asia) Limited (the “Trustee”). The Trustee is under a duty to take into custody and hold the assets 
of the Trust and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) of units in the 
Trust (the “Units”). 
 
The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List of the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 20 June 2016 (the “Listing Date”).  
 
The registered office of the Manager is at 438 Alexandra Road, #21-00 Alexandra Point, Singapore 
119958. 
 
The principal activity of the Group is to invest in income-producing real estate assets globally, which 
are used or predominantly used for logistics or industrial purposes, as well as such industrial real 
estate-related assets in connection with the foregoing, with the primary objective of achieving an 
attractive level of return from rental income and for long-term capital growth.  
 
For financial reporting purposes, the Group is regarded as a subsidiary of Frasers Property Limited, 
a Singapore-domiciled company.  The ultimate holding company is TCC Assets Limited, which is 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. 
 
The consolidated financial statements relate to the Trust and its subsidiaries.  A list of significant 
subsidiaries is shown in Note 32. 
 
The Group has entered into several service agreements in relation to the management of the Group 
and operations of its properties. The fee structures of these services are as follows:  
 
(a)(i) Manager’s management fees 

 
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to management fees comprising a base 
fee of 0.4% per annum (or such lower percentage as may be determined by the Manager in its 
absolute discretion) of the value of the Group’s Deposited Property (as defined in the Trust 
Deed) and a performance fee of 5.0% per annum (or such lower percentage as may be 
determined by the Manager in its absolute discretion) of the Distributable Income (as defined 
in the Trust Deed) of the Group in the relevant financial year (calculated before accounting for 
the Manager’s performance fee but after accounting for the Manager’s base fee and the HAUT 
Manager’s base fee and performance fee (as defined in Note 1(b)(i)). 
 
For the purpose of calculating the base fee, if the Trust holds only a partial interest in any 
Deposited Property, such Deposited Property shall be pro-rated in proportion to the partial 
interest held. 
 
The Manager may elect to receive the base fee and performance fee in cash or Units, or a 
combination of cash and Units. Management fees payable in cash and in the form of Units 
shall be payable quarterly in arrears (in relation to the base fee) or annually in arrears (in 
relation to the performance fee). 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 
(a)(i) Manager’s management fees (cont’d)  

 
As provided for in the Trust Deed, the price of a Unit issued shall be computed based on the 
volume weighted average price of a Unit for all trades done on SGX-ST in the ordinary course 
of trading for the last 10 business days immediately preceding the relevant period in which the 
fees accrue. 
 
Any increase in the rate or any change in the structure of the Manager’s management fees 
must be approved by an extraordinary resolution at a meeting of the holders of Units of the 
Trust duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed. 
 
The Manager’s change in its election to receive cash or Units or a combination of cash and 
Units is not considered as a change in the structure of the Manager’s management fees. 
 

(a)(ii) Manager’s acquisition fees 
 
The Manager is entitled to: 
 
 an acquisition fee of 0.5% for acquisitions from related parties and 1.0% for all other cases 

(or such lower percentage as may be determined by the Manager in its absolute 
discretion) of any of the following as is applicable (subject to there being no double-
counting): 
 
(i) the acquisition price of any real estate (excluding stamp duty) purchased by the 

Trust, whether directly or indirectly through one or more special purpose vehicles 
(“SPVs”), plus any other payments in addition to the acquisition price made by the 
Trust or its SPVs to the vendor in connection with the purchase of the real estate 
(pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of the Trust’s interest); 

 
(ii) the underlying value of any real estate which is taken into account when computing 

the acquisition price payable for the equity interests of any vehicle holding directly 
or indirectly the real estate purchased by the Trust, whether directly or indirectly 
through one or more SPVs, plus any other payments made by the Trust or its SPVs 
to the vendor in connection with the purchase of such equity interests (pro-rated, if 
applicable, to the proportion of the Trust’s interest); or 

 
(iii) the acquisition price of any investment purchased by the Trust, whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, in any debt securities of any property 
corporation or other SPV owning or acquiring real estate or any debt securities which 
are secured whether directly or indirectly by the rental income from real estate. 

 
 a divestment fee of 0.5% (or such lower percentage as may be determined by the 

Manager in its absolute discretion) of any of the following as is applicable (subject to there 
being no double-counting): 
 
(i) the sale price of any real estate sold or divested by the Trust, whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, plus any other payments in addition to the sale 
price received by the Trust or its SPVs from the purchaser in connection with the 
sale or divestment of the real estate (pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of the 
Trust’s interest); 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 

(a)(ii) Manager’s acquisition fees (cont’d)  
 
(ii) the underlying value of any real estate which is taken into account when computing 

the sale price for the equity interests in any vehicle holding directly or indirectly the 
real estate, sold or divested by the Trust, whether directly or indirectly through one 
or more SPVs, plus any other payments received by the Trust or its SPVs from the 
purchaser in connection with the sale or divestment of such equity interests (pro-
rated, if applicable, to the proportion of the Trust’s interest); or 

 
(iii) the sale price of the investment sold or divested by the Trust, whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, in any debt securities of any property 
corporation or other SPV owning or acquiring real estate or any debt securities which 
are secured whether directly or indirectly by the rental income from real estate. 

 
The Manager may elect to receive the acquisition fee and divestment fee in the form of cash 
and/or Units, provided that in respect of any acquisition and sale or divestment of real estate 
assets from/to related parties, such a fee should be received in the form of Units. 
 
In 2019, the Manager had elected to receive 92.2% (2018: 88.2%) of the base and performance 
fees in the form of Units.  
 

(a)(iii) Development management fee payable to the Manager 
 
The Manager is entitled to receive development management fee equivalent to 3.0% of the 
Total Project Costs (as defined in the Trust Deed) incurred in a development project 
undertaken by the Manager on behalf of the Trust.  
 
When the estimated Total Project Costs is greater than S$200.0 million (equivalent to A$214.9 
million), the Trustee and the Manager’s independent directors will first review and approve the 
quantum of the development management fee, whereupon the Manager may be directed by 
its independent directors to reduce the development management fee. Further, in cases where 
the market pricing for comparable services is, in the Manager’s view, materially lower than the 
development management fee, the independent directors of the Manager shall have the 
discretion to accept a development management fee which is less than 3.0% of the Total 
Project Costs incurred in a Development Project undertaken on behalf of the Trust. 
 
No acquisition fee shall be paid when the Manager receives the development management fee 
for a Development Project. For the avoidance of doubt, the Manager shall be entitled to receive 
an acquisition fee on the land costs. 
 

(b)(i) Head Australian Trust Manager’s management fees 
 
The Trust has a subsidiary which is the head Australian trust in Australia, FLT Australia Trust 
(“HAUT”). HAUT has a manager (“HAUT Manager”) to perform investment management 
services for it. Pursuant to the investment management agreement for HAUT, the HAUT 
Manager is entitled to a management fee comprising a base fee of 0.2% per annum (or such 
lower percentage as may be determined by the HAUT Manager in its absolute discretion) of 
the total value of HAUT’s assets and a performance fee of 1.5% (or such lower percentage as 
may be determined by the HAUT Manager in its absolute discretion) of HAUT’s net property 
income (after non-cash adjustments) in the relevant financial year. 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 

(b)(ii) Acquisition fee and divestment fee payable to the HAUT Manager  
 
In consideration for HAUT Manager providing services under the investment management 
agreement in connection with HAUT, the HAUT Manager will be entitled to: 
 
 an acquisition fee of 0.4% for acquisitions from related parties and 0.8% for all other cases 

of: 
 
(i) the acquisition price of any real estate purchased by HAUT whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, plus any other payments in addition to the 
acquisition price made by HAUT or a SPV to the vendor in connection with the 
purchase of the real estate (pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of HAUT’s 
interest); 

 
(ii) the underlying value of any real estate which is taken into account when computing 

the acquisition price payable for the equity interests of any vehicle holding directly 
or indirectly the real estate purchased by HAUT whether directly or indirectly through 
one or more SPVs, plus any other payments made by HAUT or a SPV to the vendor 
in connection with the purchase of such equity interests (pro-rated, if applicable, to 
the proportion of HAUT’s interest); or 

 
(iii) the acquisition price of any investment purchased by HAUT, whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, in any debt securities of any property 
corporation or other SPV owning or acquiring real estate or any debt securities which 
are secured whether directly or indirectly by the rental income from real estate. 

 
 a divestment fee of 0.4% of: 

 
(i) the sale price of any real estate sold or divested by HAUT whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, plus any other payments in addition to the sale 
price received by HAUT or a SPV from the purchaser in connection with the sale or 
divestment of the property (pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of HAUT’s 
interest); 

 
(ii) the underlying value of any real estate which is taken into account when computing 

the sale price for the equity interests in any vehicle holding directly or indirectly the 
real estate, sold or divested by HAUT, whether directly or indirectly through one or 
more SPVs, plus any other payments received by HAUT or its SPVs from the 
purchaser in connection with the sale or divestment of such equity interests (pro-
rated, if applicable, to the proportion of the HAUT’s interest); or 

 
(iii) the sale price of any investment sold or divested by HAUT, whether directly or 

indirectly through one or more SPVs, in any debt securities of any property 
corporation or other SPV owning or acquiring real estate or any debt securities which 
are secured whether directly or indirectly by the rental income from real estate; and 

 
(iv) The HAUT Manager will also be entitled to be reimbursed for certain expenses 

properly incurred in relation to performance of its role under the investment 
management agreement. The HAUT Manager’s fees may be paid in the form of 
cash, or the Trust’s Units, or by a combination of these sources as elected by the 
Manager. 

 
The base fee, performance fee, acquisition fee and divestment fee payable to the Manager 
shall be reduced by the amount of the relevant fee payable to the HAUT Manager. 
 
The Manager and HAUT Manager are hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Managers”. 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 
(c) Trustee’s fee 

 
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Trustee’s fee is charged to a scaled basis of up to 0.015% per 
annum of the value of the Trust’s Deposited Property, subject to a minimum of S$15,000 
(equivalent to A$16,000) per month, excluding out-of-pocket expenses and goods and services 
tax (“GST”). The Trustee’s fee is payable monthly in arrears.  
 

(d) HAUT trustee’s fee 
 
Pursuant to the HAUT Trust Deed, the trustee of the HAUT (the “HAUT Trustee”) is entitled to 
a fee of 0.025% per annum of the total value of HAUT’s assets excluding out of pocket 
expenses and GST. The HAUT Trustee’s fee is payable quarterly in arrears.  
 
The HAUT Trustee will also be entitled to be reimbursed for certain expenses reasonably and 
properly incurred in the proper performance of its duties in relation to HAUT.  
 
The Trustee and the HAUT Trustee are hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Trustees”. 
 

(e) Property managers’ fees  
 
Fees payable to the property managers, which are companies controlled by a substantial 
Unitholder, in relation to services provided comprise: 
 
(i) Property management fees 

 
Properties located in Australia 
 
Pursuant to the Australian property management agreement, property management 
fees are payable as follows:  
 
(I) a property management fee of 1.2% per annum of the Net Property Income (as 

defined in the Australian property management agreement) of each property; and 
(II) where any property is not fully leased, A$1,000 per month per property in the event 

there is vacant lettable area in such property. 
 
In the event that the aggregate property management fees recovered by the property 
manager from the tenants under the relevant tenancy documents is more than the 
agreed property management fee, thereby amounting to an excess, no further amounts 
will be paid to the property manager.  For the avoidance of doubt, the property manager 
will be entitled to retain for its own benefit such amounts recovered from the tenants 
which is excess of the agreed property management fee.  
 
Properties located outside Australia  
 
Pursuant to the master property management agreement, property management fees 
are payable as follows:  
 
(I) a property management fee of up to 2.0% per annum of the Gross Revenue (as 

defined in the master property management agreement) of each property; and 
(II) a lease management fee of up to 1.0% per annum of the Gross Revenue (as 

defined in the master property management agreement) of each property.  
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1. General (cont’d) 
 
(e) Property managers’ fees (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Project management fee 

 
Properties located in Australia 
 
Pursuant to the Australian property management agreement, in respect of the project 
management services to be provided by the property manager, the property manager 
will be entitled to the following fees in relation to the refurbishment, retrofitting, addition 
and alteration or renovation works of a property under its management: 
 
(I) where the construction costs are A$20.0 million or less, a fee of 3.0% of the 

construction costs; and  
(II) where the construction costs exceed A$20.0 million, a fee of less than 3.0% of the 

construction costs to be mutually agreed by the HAUT Manager and the property 
manager. 

 
Properties located outside Australia  
 
Pursuant to the master property management agreement, in respect of the project 
management services to be provided by the property manager, the property manager 
will be entitled to the following fees in relation to the refurbishment, retrofitting, addition 
and alteration or renovation works of a property under its management: 
 
(I) where the construction costs are S$20.0 million or less, a fee of 3.0% of the 

construction costs; and 
(II) where the construction costs exceed S$20.0 million, a fee of less than 3.0% of the 

construction costs to be mutually agreed by the REIT Manager and the property 
manager.  

 
(iii) Marketing services commission 

 
Properties located in Australia 
 
In respect of the services provided by the property manager to secure new leases or 
renewals of existing leases for properties of the Group, the property manager will be 
entitled to the following commissions for the marketing services it provides: 
 
(I) for a new lease, a one-time commission of 13.0% of the Year 1 Gross Revenue (as 

defined in the Australian property management agreement) derived from the 
relevant lease; and 

(II) for renewal of an existing lease, a one-time commission of 7.0% of the Year 1 
Gross Revenue derived from the relevant lease. 

 
The above formula is based on a new lease or renewal of an existing lease of a minimum 
period of five years. In the event that the term of the new or renewed lease is less than 
five years, the leasing fee will be pro-rated based on the lease term. 
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1. General (cont’d) 
 
(e) Property managers’ fees (cont’d) 

 
(iii) Marketing services commission (cont’d) 

 
Properties located outside Australia 
 
The property manager will be entitled to the commissions (as derived based on the table 
below) for the marketing services it provides to secure new leases for properties of the 
Group located outside Australia. For renewal of existing leases for properties of the 
Group, the commissions (as derived based on the table below) for the marketing 
services it provides will be reduced by 50.0%.  
 
Length of new lease or renewed lease Marketing services commission payable 
  
a) Less than six months Nil 
  
b) Six months or more but less than 

three years 
Pro-rated based on the commission of up 
to 1 month’s Gross Revenue (as defined in 
the master property management 
agreement) 

  
c) Three years Up to 1 month’s Gross Revenue 
  
d) Between three years and five years Pro-rated based on the commission of up 

to 2 months’ Gross Revenue 
  
e) Five years  Up to 2 months’ Gross Revenue 
  
f) More than five years  Pro-rated based on the commission of up 

to 2 months’ Gross Revenue provided that 
the commission payable shall not exceed 
3 months’ Gross Revenue 

 
There will be no double-counting of fees. In the event that a third party agent is employed 
to provide the foregoing services, the third party agent will be entitled to such 
commission instead of the property manager. 
 
However, an administrative charge of 20.0% of the commission payable to such third 
party agent is payable to the property manager located in or outside Australia in the case 
of a new lease take-up which involves a third party agent. This administrative charge is 
meant to compensate the property manager for the marketing support and 
administrative services which will be rendered. 
 
The property management fee, project management fee and marketing services 
commission may be payable in cash or Units or a combination of both (as the HAUT 
Manager or REIT Manager may elect). 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the recommendations 
of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (“RAP”) 7 Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts 
issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, the applicable requirements of the Code 
on Collective Investment Schemes (the “CIS Code”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore 
(the “MAS”) and the provisions of the Trust Deed. RAP 7 requires the accounting policies to generally 
comply with the principles relating to recognition and measurement under the Financial Reporting 
Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”). 
 
This is the first set of the Group’s annual financial statements in which FRS 115 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers and FRS 109 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes to 
significant accounting policies are described in note 2.2. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars (“AUD”), which is the functional currency 
of the Trust and rounded to the nearest thousand (A$’000), unless otherwise stated, and have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.  
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied by the Group consistently to the periods 
presented in these financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities. 
 
Significant accounting judgements and estimates  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with RAP 7 requires the Manager to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected.  
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
Valuation of investment properties 
 
The Group’s investment properties are stated at their fair values, which are determined annually 
based on independent professional valuations undertaken. The fair values of investment properties 
are determined using the capitalisation and discounted cash flow methods. These estimated fair 
values may differ from the prices at which the Group’s investment properties could be sold at a 
particular time, since actual selling prices are negotiated between willing buyers and sellers. Also, 
certain estimates require an assessment of factors not within the Managers’ control, such as overall 
market conditions. As a result, actual results of operations and realisation of these investment 
properties could differ from the estimates set forth in these financial statements, and the difference 
could be significant. The carrying amount of investment properties is disclosed in the statement of 
financial position and the portfolio statement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
Measurement of fair values 
 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as 
far as possible.  Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 
 
Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
 
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the 
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 
3 being the lowest). 
 
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the financial 
year during which the change has occurred. 
 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following 
notes: 
 
Note 10 – Investment properties 
Note 27 – Fair values of financial instruments 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 
 
The Group has applied the following FRSs, amendments to and interpretations of FRSs for the first 
time for the annual period beginning on 1 October 2018:   
 
 FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers; 
 Clarifications to FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Amendments to FRS 115); 
 FRS 109 Financial Instruments; 
 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to FRS 40); and 
 INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration. 
 
The application of the above standards did not have a material effect on the financial statements, 
except for FRS 109. 
 
A. FRS 109 Financial instruments  

 
FRS 109 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.  It also introduces a new 
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model and a new general hedge accounting model.  
 
As a result of the adoption of FRS 109, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to 
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to disclosures for 2019 but have 
not been generally applied to comparative information. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
A. FRS 109 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of FRS 109 have been applied by 
the Group retrospectively, except as described below. 
 
 The Group has used an exemption not to restate comparative information for prior periods 

with respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements.  
Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 does not generally reflect the requirements 
of FRS 109, but rather those of FRS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement. 

 
 The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held has been 

made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial 
application. 

 
 Changes to hedge accounting policies have been applied prospectively. 
 
 All hedging relationships designated under FRS 39 at 30 September 2018 met the criteria 

for hedge accounting under FRS 109 at 1 October 2018 and are therefore regarded as 
continuing hedging relationships. 

 
The impact upon adoption of the recognition and measurement principles of FRS 109 is 
described below. 
 
(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities  

 
FRS 109 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured 
at amortised cost, fair value through unitholders’ funds and fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”).  The classification of financial assets under FRS 109 is generally based on the 
business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics.  FRS 109 eliminates the previous FRS 39 categories of held to maturity, 
loans and receivables and available for sale.  
 
FRS 109 largely retains the existing requirements in FRS 39 for the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities. 
 
The adoption of FRS 109 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies 
related to financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments. 
 
For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures financial instruments and 
accounts for related gains and losses under FRS 109, see note 2.13. 
 
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents that 
were classified as loans and receivables under FRS 39 have been classified at amortised 
cost under FRS 109 as at 1 October 2018.  Derivative financial assets that were classified 
at fair value under FRS 39 continue to be classified at fair value under FRS 109 as at 1 
October 2018.  
 
There is no significant change to the measurement basis arising from the measurement 
model under FRS 109. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
A. FRS 109 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

 
FRS 109 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in FRS 39 with an ECL model.  The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
 
Under FRS 109, credit losses are recognised earlier than under FRS 39.  For assets in the 
scope of the FRS 109 impairment model, impairment losses are generally expected to 
increase and become more volatile.  The Group and the Trust have determined that the 
application of FRS 109’s impairment requirements at 1 October 2018 did not result in a 
material additional allowance for impairment. 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 October 2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has 
not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these statements. 
 
The following new FRSs, interpretations and amendments to FRSs are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 October 2018: 
 
Applicable to financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2020 
 FRS 116 Leases; 
 INT FRS 123 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments; and 
 Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation (Amendments to FRS 103 and FRS 111). 
 
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the new FRSs, amendments to and 
interpretations of FRSs on the financial statements. The Group’s preliminary assessment of FRS 116, 
which is expected to have an impact on the Group is described below. 
 
FRS 116  
 
FRS 116 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee 
recognises a right-of-use (ROU) asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease 
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value items.  Lessor accounting remains similar to the current 
standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. FRS 116 replaces 
existing lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17 Leases, INT FRS 104 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, INT FRS 15 Operating Leases – Incentives and INT FRS 27 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.  The standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2019, with early adoption permitted.  
 
The Group plans to apply FRS 116 initially on 1 October 2019, using the modified retrospective 
approach.  Therefore, the cumulative effect of adopting FRS 116 will be recognised as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of unitholders’ funds at 1 October 2019, with no restatement of comparative 
information. The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease 
on transition.  This means that it will apply FRS 116 to all contracts entered into before 1 October 
2019 and identified as leases in accordance with FRS 17 and INT FRS 104. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 
 
The Group as lessee  
 
The Group expects to measure lease liabilities by applying a single discount rate to its portfolio of 
property leases with reasonably similar characteristics. Furthermore, the Group is likely to apply the 
practical expedient to recognise amounts of ROU assets equal to its lease liabilities at 1 October 
2019. For lease contracts that contain the option to renew, the Group is expected to use hindsight in 
determining the lease term. 
 
The Group expects its existing operating lease arrangements to be recognised as ROU assets with 
corresponding lease liabilities under the principles of FRS 116. 
 
The Group’s operating lease commitments amounted to approximately A$525.6 million as at 30 
September 2019 (Note 24(b)). Under FRS 116, remaining lease payments under the operating leases 
will be recognised at their present value discounted using an appropriate discount rate. In addition, 
the nature of expenses will now change as FRS 116 replaces the straight-line operating lease 
expense with interest expense on lease liabilities.  The Group is currently finalising the transition 
adjustments. 
 
The Group as lessor 
 
FRS 116 substantially carries forward the current existing lessor accounting requirements. 
Accordingly, the Group continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 
account for these two types of leases using the existing operating lease and finance lease accounting 
models respectively.  
 

2.4 Revenue 
 
Rental income from operating leases 
 
Rental income from investment properties is recognised in the statement of total return on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of 
the total rental income, over the term of the lease. 
 

2.5 Levies 
 
A provision for levies is recognised when the condition that triggers the payment of the levy as 
specified in the relevant legislation is met. If a levy obligation is subject to a minimum activity threshold 
so that the obligating event is reaching a minimum activity, then a provision is recognised when that 
minimum activity threshold is reached.  
 

2.6 Finance income and finance costs 
 
The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:  
 
 interest income; 
 amortisation of debt upfront costs; and  
 interest expense. 
 
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.6 Finance income and finance costs (cont’d) 
 
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to: 
 
 the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
 the amortised cost of the financial liability. 
 
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.  
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset.  If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in statement of total return using the effective interest method. 
 

2.7 Taxes 
 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the 
statement of total return except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in unitholders’ 
funds. 
 
The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain 
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under 
FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of 
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if 
any. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financing reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for: 
 
- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 
- temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able 

to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 
The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities. For investment property that is measured at fair value, the presumption that the carrying 
amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale has not been rebutted.  Deferred 
tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.7 Taxes (cont’d) 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of 
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient 
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing 
temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the 
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when 
the probability of future taxable profits improves.  
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
used. 
 
The Trust has obtained tax rulings from the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (“IRAS”) in respect 
of Singapore taxation on certain income from the properties located overseas.   
 

2.8 Earnings per Unit 
 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per Unit. Basic earnings per Unit is calculated by 
dividing the total return attributable to Unitholders of the Group by the weighted average number of 
Units outstanding during the financial year. Diluted earnings per Unit is determined by adjusting the 
total return attributable to Unitholders and the weighted average number of Units outstanding 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential Units. 
 

2.9 Segment reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
they may earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All operating segments’ operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors of the Manager to make decisions about resources 
to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors of the Manager include items directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated 
items comprise mainly trust expenses. 
 

2.10 Basis of consolidation and business combinations 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.10 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d) 
 
(b) Consolidation  

 
The financial year of the Group ends on 30 September unless otherwise stated. The 
consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Group made up to 
30 September. The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared using consistent 
accounting policies.  Adjustments are made to any dissimilar material accounting policies to 
conform to the Group’s significant accounting policies. 
 
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 
 

(c) Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method in accordance with 
FRS 103 Business Combinations as at the date of acquisition, which is the date on which control 
is transferred. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
Acquisition-related costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, 
that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are recognised as expenses in 
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 
 
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition and 
included in the consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition 
of a financial instrument is recognised as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is 
accounted for within unitholders’ funds. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognised in the statement of total return. 
 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in the statement of total return. 
 
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest 
(“NCI”) in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to 
a proportionate share of net assets in event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date 
at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets, at the date of acquisition. Other components of non-controlling interests are 
measured on their acquisition date at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required 
by another FRS. 
 
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 
combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of 
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any goodwill that arises is 
tested annually for impairment. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially 
measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase is recognised immediately 
in the statement of total return.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.10 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d) 
 
(d) Property acquisitions and business combinations  

 
At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether each acquisition represents an 
acquisition of business or an acquisition of an asset. An acquisition is accounted for as a 
business combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired, in addition to the property. 
In determining whether an integrated set of activities is acquired, the Manager considers 
whether significant processes such as strategic management and operational processes, are 
acquired. Where significant processes are acquired, the acquisition is considered an acquisition 
of business and accounted for as stated above. Where the acquisition does not represent a 
business, it is accounted for as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of 
acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired and no goodwill or deferred tax is 
recognised. 
 

(e) Joint operations 
 
A joint operation is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control whereby the Group has 
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to an arrangement. The Group 
accounts for each of its assets, liabilities and transactions, including its share of those held or 
incurred jointly, in relation to the joint operation. 
 

(f) Subsidiaries in the separate financial statements 
 
Investment in subsidiaries are stated in the Trust’s statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated losses. 
 

2.11 Foreign currencies 
 
(a) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of each 
entity at rates of exchange approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the 
functional currency at the rates ruling at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary assets and liabilities is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the 
year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of 
the year. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are 
recorded using the exchange rates ruling at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date that the fair value was measured. Foreign currency differences 
arising on the settlement of monetary assets and liabilities or translating monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the statement of total return.   
 

(b) Foreign operations  
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at exchange 
rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to 
Australian dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

  



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

38 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.11 Foreign currencies (cont’d) 
 
(b) Foreign operations (cont’d) 

 
Foreign currency differences are recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve 
in unitholders’ funds. However, if the foreign operation is not a wholly-owned subsidiary, then 
the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the NCI. When a 
foreign operation is disposed of such that control, joint control or significant influence is lost, the 
cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that foreign operation 
is reclassified to profit or loss or the statement of total return (as the case may be) as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal. When only part of the interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign 
operation is disposed of while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount 
is reattributed to NCI. 
 
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is 
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising 
from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation. 
These are recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve in unitholders’ funds. 
 

2.12 Investment properties 
 
Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income and capital appreciation, but not for 
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for 
administrative purposes.  
 
Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Any gains or 
losses arising from changes in fair values of the investment properties are recognised in the 
statement of total return in the period in which they arise. 
 
Fair value is determined at each reporting date in accordance with the Trust Deed. In addition, the 
investment properties are to be valued by independent professional valuers at least once a year, in 
accordance with the Code on Collective Investment Schemes (“CCIS”) issued by MAS. 
 
Investment properties are de-recognised when they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised 
in the statement of total return in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to the investment properties that has already been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess 
of originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other 
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.  
 
Property that is being constructed for future use as an investment property is accounted for at fair 
value. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.13 Financial instruments  
 
(a)  Non-derivative financial assets  

 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 
 
At initial recognition 
 
A financial asset is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial asset. 
 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of total return. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 
- amortised cost; 
- fair value through other comprehensive income – debt investment; 
- fair value through other comprehensive income – equity investment; or 
- fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as 
well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset. 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 
The Group reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 
Financial assets: Business model assessment  
 
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management.  The information considered includes: 
 
 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 

practice.  These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the 
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising 
cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(a)  Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets: Business model assessment (cont’d) 
 
 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and 
 the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons 

for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 
 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of 
the assets. 
 
Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest  
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as a profit margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, 
the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.  This includes assessing whether 
the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.  In making this assessment, 
the Group considers: 
 
 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features; 
 prepayment and extension features; and 
 terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features). 
 
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if 
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination of the contract.  Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount 
or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an 
amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) 
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature 
is insignificant at initial recognition. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(a)  Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 
 

Policy applicable before 1 October 2018  
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables 
(excluding prepayments). 

 
(b)  Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. 
 

(c) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is classified as fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for 
trading or is designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are 
recognised in the statement of total return as incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any interest expense, 
are recognised in the statement of total return. 
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities under the other financial liabilities 
category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Other financial liabilities 
comprise trade and other payables and borrowings. 
 

(d) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the financial assets to another party without 
retaining control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets. The Group 
derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 
 

(e) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(f)  Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting  
 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 
 
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate 
risk exposures.  
 
On initial designation of a derivative as a hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the 
economic relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk 
management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, 
together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship 
as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be highly 
effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged items 
attributable to the hedged risk. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction 
should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows 
that could ultimately affect the statement of total return. 
 
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in 
the statement of total return when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 
measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below. 
 
Hedging relationships designated under FRS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement as at 30 September 2018 are treated as continuing hedges and the hedge 
documentation is aligned with the requirements of FRS 109. 
 
(i) Cash flow hedges 

 
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the 
variability in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast transactions arising 
from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 
 
When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion 
of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in unitholders’ funds and 
accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value 
of the derivative is recognised immediately in the statement of total return. 
 
Where the hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-
financial item, the amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve is included in the initial 
cost of the non-financial item.  
 
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument 
is sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued 
prospectively. When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the 
amount that has been accumulated in the hedging reserve remains in unitholders’ funds 
until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in recognition of a non-financial item, it is 
included in the non-financial item’s cost on its initial recognition or, for other cash flow 
hedges, it is reclassified to the statement of total return in the same period or periods 
as the hedged expected future cash flows affect the statement of total return. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(f)  Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Net investment hedges 

 
The Group designates certain derivatives and non-derivative financial liabilities as hedges 
of foreign exchange risk on a net investment in a foreign operation. 
 
When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the 
hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective 
portion of, for a derivative, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument or, for a non-
derivative, foreign exchange gains and losses, is recognised in unitholders’ funds and 
presented in the translation reserve within unitholders’ funds. Any ineffective portion of the 
changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and losses on the non-
derivative is recognised immediately in the statement of total return. The amount 
recognised in unitholders’ funds is reclassified to the statement of total return on disposal 
of the foreign operation. 

 
Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 
 
The policy applied in the comparative information presented for 2018 is similar to that applied 
for 2019. However, embedded derivatives are not separated from host contracts that are 
financial assets in the scope of FRS 109. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument is assessed 
as a whole for classification of financial assets under FRS 109. 
 

(g)  Impairment of financial assets 
 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 
 
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. 
 
Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases: 
 
- 12 months ECL: these are ECL that result from default events that are possible within the 

12 months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the 
instrument is less than 12 months); or 

 
- Lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected 

life of a financial instrument. 
 
Simplified approach 
 
The Group applied the simplified approach to provide for ECL for all trade receivables. The 
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(g)  Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
General approach 
 
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL on all other financial instruments. 
Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 
ECL at initial recognition. 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information. 
 
If credit has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the 
financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising 
security (if any is held). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cashflows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
- a breach of contract such as a default; 
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise; 
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(g)  Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable from 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Presentation of ECL in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of these assets. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that 
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 
Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 
 
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss, is assessed at each reporting 
period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset 
is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has been occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a 
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 
otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. 
 
All individually significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment on an individual 
basis. All individually significant financial assets found not to be specifically impaired are then 
collectively assessed for any impairment that has incurred but not yet identified. The remaining 
financial assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by 
grouping together such instruments with similar risk characteristics. 
 
In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, 
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as 
to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to 
be greater or lesser than that suggested by historical trends. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in the statement 
of total return and reflected as an allowance account against receivables. When the Group 
considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts 
are written off. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, 
the decrease in impairment loss is reversed in the statement of total return.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.  
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or CGU.  
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indication 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 
 

2.15 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
the provision is reversed. Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost. 
 

2.16 Unitholders’ funds 
 
Unitholders’ funds are classified as equity. 
 
Expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of Units are deducted directly against unitholders’ 
funds.  
 

2.17 Leases  
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is 
not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

2.17 Leases (cont’d) 
 
(a) As lessee 

 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of total return on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the 
lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 

(b) As lessor 
 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
are classified as operating leases. The accounting policy for rental income is stated in Note 2.4. 

 
2.18 Distribution policy 

 
The Trust’s distribution policy is to distribute at least 90% of the Distributable Income (“DI”) to the 
Unitholders.  The actual level of distribution and payment of distributions will be at the sole discretion 
of the Board of Directors of the Manager. 
 
Distributions are made on a semi-annual basis, with the amount calculated as at 31 March and  
30 September each year for the six-month period ending on each of the said dates.  In accordance 
with the Trust Deed, the Manager is required to pay distributions within 90 days of the end of each 
distribution period. Unitholders have the option to elect to receive distributions in Singapore dollars 
(S$) or Australian dollars. 
 
 

3. Revenue 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Rental income  206,338 166,013 
Incentives reimbursement  5,580 4,887 
Recoverable outgoings  26,474 22,880 
Other revenue  2,366 1,986 
  240,758 195,766 
 
 

4. Property operating expenses 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Land tax  8,874 6,643 
Ground lease expenses  10,519 8,627 
Statutory expenses  7,224 6,406 
Property management fees  3,051 2,127 
Other property expenses  11,739 10,172 
  41,407 33,975 
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5. Managers’ management fees 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Base fee   12,607 9,450 
Performance fee  6,725 5,330 
  19,332 14,780 
 
During the financial year, an aggregate of 14,491,971 (2018: 12,322,994) Units were issued or will 
be issued to the Managers as satisfaction of the management fees incurred, at unit prices ranging 
from S$1.03 to S$1.21 (2018: S$1.04 to S$1.13) per Unit.  
 
 

6. Finance costs 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost    
- Amortisation of debt upfront costs  2,557 2,376 
- Interest expense   24,453 21,349 
- Others  163 80 
Derivatives measured at fair value    
- Interest expense  709 – 
  27,882 23,805 
 
 

7. Tax expense 
 
Subject to full compliance with the terms and conditions of the following tax rulings, the taxation of 
Group is as follows: 
 
(i) Tax rulings 

 
The Trust and its subsidiaries, where applicable, have been granted tax exemption under 
Section 13 (12) of the Singapore Income Tax Act in respect of certain foreign-sourced income 
derived from their respective overseas subsidiaries, subject to meeting certain conditions.   
 

(ii) Singapore sourced dividends 
 
Dividend income received by the Trust from the Singapore subsidiaries will not be subject to 
Singapore income tax in the hands of the Trustee. They will be regarded as tax exempt income 
of the Trust.  
 

(iii) Return of capital to the Trust 
 
Any return of capital received by the Trust from its Singapore subsidiaries and/or HAUT is capital 
in nature and hence, is not taxable in the hands of the Trustee.  
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7. Tax expense (cont’d) 
 
Tax expense  
 
The major components of tax expense for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 are: 
 
  Group 
 Note 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Current tax expense    
- Current year income tax  3,799 1,082 

    
Deferred tax expense    
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences  18 25,908 20,120 
    
Withholding tax expense  14,823 13,159 
    
  44,530 34,361 
 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the financial year is as follows: 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Total return for the year before tax  272,434 213,995 
    
Tax using the Singapore tax rate of 17% (2018: 17%)  46,314 36,379 
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiction  (1,891) (2,465) 
Non-deductible expenses  6,734 7,887 
Tax exempt income   (22,021) (19,735) 
Deferred tax assets not recognised  290 – 
Change in unrecognised temporary differences  – (534) 
Withholding tax expense  14,823 13,159 
Others  281 (330) 
  44,530 34,361 
 
 

8. Total return for the year 
 
The following items have been included in arriving at total return for the year: 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Audit fees paid/payable to auditors of the Trust  189 146 
Audit fees paid/payable to other auditors  639 467 
Non-audit fees paid/payable to auditors of the Trust  34 12 
Valuation fees  582 318 
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9. Earnings per Unit 
 
Basic earnings per Unit 
 
The calculation of basic earnings per Unit for the Group is based on the total return for the year 
attributable to Unitholders and weighted average number of Units during the year: 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Total return for the year attributable to Unitholders   225,617 178,728 
    
  ’000 ’000 
    
Issued Units at the beginning of the year   2,013,918 1,511,477 
Effect of issue of new Units:    
- Private placement  32,548 121,412 
- Preferential offering  – 46,688 
- In satisfaction of the Managers’ management fees paid in Units  11,327 9,612 
- In satisfaction of the Managers’ acquisition fees paid in Units  671 1,980 
Weighted average number of Units   2,058,464 1,691,169 
 
Diluted earnings per Unit 
 
The calculation of diluted earnings per Unit for the Group was based on the total return for the year 
attributable to Unitholders and the weighted average number of Units during the year after adjustment 
for the effects of all dilutive potential Units. 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Total return for the year attributable to Unitholders   225,617 178,728 
    
  ’000 ’000 
    
Weighted average number of Units used in calculation of 

basic earnings per Unit  2,058,464 1,691,169 
Effect of the Managers’ management fees payable in Units  11,090 10,362 
Effect of the Managers’ acquisition fees payable in Units  1,872 3,342 
Weighted average number of Units (diluted)  2,071,426 1,704,873 
  



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

51 

10. Investment properties 

 Note 
Investment 
properties 

Investment 
properties 

under 
development  Total  

  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Group     
At 1 October 2017  1,848,575 62,400 1,910,975 
Acquisition of investment properties through 

acquisition of subsidiaries 30 905,099 – 905,099 
Acquisition of investment properties  

(including acquisition costs)   74,247 – 74,247 
Capital expenditure incurred   7,202 32,511 39,713 
Transfer upon completion of development  94,911 (94,911) – 
Divestments  (75,219) – (75,219) 
Capitalised leasing incentives, net of 

amortisation  7,423 – 7,423 
Straight-lining of rental adjustments  6,394 – 6,394 
Net change in fair value recognised in 

statement of total return  72,411 – 72,411 
Translation differences  37,161 – 37,161 
At 30 September 2018  2,978,204 – 2,978,204 
     
At 1 October 2018  2,978,204 – 2,978,204 
Acquisition of investment properties through 

acquisition of subsidiaries 30 458,991 – 458,991 
Acquisition of investment properties  

(including acquisition costs)   133,721 – 133,721 
Capital expenditure incurred   11,528 – 11,528 
Transfer to investment property held for sale  (18,000) – (18,000) 
Divestments  (147,979) – (147,979) 
Capitalised leasing incentives, net of 

amortisation  2,568 – 2,568 
Straight-lining of rental adjustments  3,440 – 3,440 
Net change in fair value recognised in 

statement of total return  121,989 – 121,989 
Translation differences  9,680 – 9,680 
At 30 September 2019  3,554,142 – 3,554,142 
 
Investment properties comprise industrial properties in Australia and Europe that are leased to third 
parties under operating leases (Note 24(c)).  
 
During the year, the Group announced its proposed divestment of 610 Heatherton Road, Clayton 
South located in Victoria, Australia. Accordingly, the investment property has been reclassified to 
investment property held for sale as at 30 September 2019. The proposed divestment is expected to 
be completed by the end of 2019. 
 
Investment properties, including investment property held for sale, are stated at fair value at the 
reporting date.  As at 30 September 2019, the fair values of the investment properties in Australia 
were based on independent valuations undertaken by CIVAS (VIC) Pty Limited (Colliers), Knight 
Frank NSW Valuations & Advisory Pty Ltd (KF), Savills Valuations Pty Ltd (Savills) and Urbis 
Valuations Pty Ltd, and the fair values of the investment properties in Germany and Netherlands were 
based on independent valuations by CBRE Ltd, Colliers International Valuation UK LLP and Jones 
Lang LaSalle SE. 
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10. Investment properties (cont’d) 
 
As at 30 September 2018, the fair values of the investment properties in Australia were based on 
independent valuations undertaken by CBRE Valuations Pty Limited (CBRE), CIVAS (VIC) Pty 
Limited (Colliers), Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd (JLL), Savills Valuations Pty Ltd 
(Savills) and Urbis Valuations Pty Ltd, and the fair values of the investment properties in Germany 
and Netherlands were based on independent valuations by CBRE Ltd and Colliers International 
Valuation UK LLP.   
 
The independent valuers have the appropriate professional qualifications and experience in the 
location and category of the properties being valued.  
 
As at 30 September 2019, investment properties with a carrying amount of A$1,218,066,000  
(2018: A$969,554,000) are pledged as security to secure bank loans (see Note 17). 
 
Included in the acquisition costs capitalised are audit fees of A$83,000 (2018: A$137,000) paid to 
auditors of the Trust for services performed in relation to the Group’s acquisition of certain properties 
during the year. 
 
Measurement of fair value 
 
(i) Fair value hierarchy 

 
The fair values of the investment properties, including the investment property held for sale, 
were determined using the capitalisation and/or discounted cash flow methods. The valuation 
methods involve making certain estimates including those relating to capitalisation rate, gross 
initial yield, net initial yield, discount rate and terminal yield.  
 
The fair value measurement for all of the investment properties, including the investment 
property held for sale, has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the 
valuation techniques used. Details of the inputs used in the valuation techniques are disclosed 
below. 
 

(ii) Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 
 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring the fair values of 
investment properties, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.  
 

Type 

 
Valuation 

techniques 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 

 

Australia Europe 
       

Investment 
properties, 
including 
investment 
property held 
for sale 

 Capitalisation 
method 

Capitalisation rate  5.25% - 15.64% 
(2018: 5.55% - 11.82%) 
 

Not applicable 

  Gross initial yield (1)  Not applicable 
 

4.56% - 6.51% (3) 
(2018: 4.10% - 7.54%) 
 

  Net initial yield (2)  Not applicable 
 

4.14% - 5.86% (3) 
(2018: 2.72% (4) - 6.63%) 

      
  Discounted cash 

flow method 
Discount rate  6.50% - 9.00% 

(2018: 6.75% - 9.00%) 
 

5.50% - 7.50% (3)  
(2018: Not applicable) 

   Terminal yield  5.25% - 44.86% 
(2018: 5.75% - 26.64%) 

4.50% - 6.50% (3)  
(2018: Not applicable) 

       
1 Rent divided by net property value 
2 Rent net of non-recoverable expenses divided by gross property value 
3 In 2019, 10 properties in the European portfolio were valued using the discounted cash flow method (2018: 

capitalisation method) 
4 In 2018, the net initial yield of 2.72% for a property was due to the outstanding rent free incentives  
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10.  Investment properties (cont’d) 
 
Measurement of fair value (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs (cont’d) 

 
Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurements 
 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of investment properties, 
including the investment property held for sale, are capitalisation rate, gross initial yield, net 
initial yield, discount rate and terminal yield.  An increase in capitalisation rate, gross initial yield, 
net initial yield, discount rate and terminal yield in isolation would result in a lower fair value. 
 
Key unobservable inputs relate to: 
 
 Capitalisation rate corresponds to a rate of return on a property based on the income that 

the property is expected to generate. 
 Gross initial yield corresponds to a rate of return on a property based on the current passing 

income.  
 Net initial yield corresponds to a rate of return on a property based on the current passing 

income net of estimated non-recoverable expenses. 
 Discount rate represents the required rate of return, adjusted for a risk premium that reflects 

the risks relevant to the asset. 
 Terminal yield reflects the exit capitalisation rate applied to a projected terminal cash flow. 
 

(iii) Valuation policies and procedures  
 
The fair values of investment properties are determined annually by independent professional 
valuers.  The appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and assumptions adopted are 
reviewed by the Manager along with the appropriateness and reliability of the inputs used in the 
valuations.  
 
In selecting the appropriate valuation models and inputs to be adopted for each valuation that 
uses significant non-observable inputs, the independent professional valuers are required to 
recalibrate the valuation models and inputs to actual market transactions (which may include 
transactions entered into by the Group with third parties as appropriate) that are relevant to the 
valuation if such information is reasonably available.  
 
Significant changes in fair value measurements from period to period are evaluated for 
reasonableness. Key drivers of the changes are identified and assessed for reasonableness 
against relevant information from independent sources, or internal sources if necessary. 
 
In accordance with the Group’s reporting policies, the valuation process and the results of the 
independent valuations are reviewed once a year by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
before the results are presented to the Board of Directors for approval. 
 
In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager had exercised its judgement and was satisfied 
that the independent valuers have the appropriate professional qualifications and experience in 
the location and category of the properties being valued and the valuation estimates were 
reflective of the current market conditions. 
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11. Investment in subsidiaries 
  Trust 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Equity investments, at cost  914,938 858,036 
 
In 2019, the Group acquired equity interests in nine property holding companies which hold interests 
in eight freehold logistics properties located in Germany.  
 
In 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the equity interest in FLT Europe B.V. (“FLTE”). FLTE and its 
subsidiaries (“FLTE Group”) owned 17 industrial properties located in Germany and four industrial 
properties located in the Netherlands.  
 
Details of interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 32. 
 
 

12. Loans to subsidiaries 
 
Loans to subsidiaries are unsecured. Included in loans to subsidiaries are amounts of 
A$1,006,321,000 (2018: A$1,072,554,000) which bear interest at 3.9% - 5.4% (2018: 5.0% - 5.4%) 
per annum and are repayable between 2024 to 2028 (2018: 2026 to 2028). The remaining loans to 
subsidiaries are interest-free and are repayable on demand. The loans form part of the Trust’s net 
investments in its subsidiaries and settlement of such loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in 
the foreseeable future. There is no impairment loss on these loans as the expected credit loss on 
them is not material.  
 
 

13. Derivative assets/(liabilities) 
 Group  Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Derivative assets     
Interest rate swaps used for hedging – 1,333 – 1,333 
Foreign currency forward contracts 2,070 83 2,070 83 
Cross currency swaps 2,117 – 2,117 – 
 4,187 1,416 4,187 1,416 
Classified as:     
- Non-current 2,117 1,133 2,117 1,133 
- Current 2,070 283 2,070 283 
 4,187 1,416 4,187 1,416 
Derivative liabilities     
Interest rate swaps used for hedging (9,333) (620) (6,306) (620) 
Foreign currency forward contracts – (148) – (148) 
Cross currency swaps (1,413) – (1,413) – 
 (10,746) (768) (7,719) (768) 
Classified as:     
- Non-current (9,674) (620) (6,647) (620) 
- Current (1,072) (148) (1,072) (148) 
 (10,746) (768) (7,719) (768) 
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13. Derivative assets/(liabilities) (cont’d) 
 
  Group Trust 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  % % % % 
      
Derivative assets/liabilities as a 

percentage of net assets 
 

(0.28) 0.03 (0.17) 0.04 
 

       (a)     Interest rate swaps used for hedging 
 
Interest rate swaps are used by the Group to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk associated 
with movements in interest rates on the borrowings of the Group. 
 
As at the reporting date, the Group and the Trust have interest rate swap arrangements in place 
for the following amounts: 
 
 Group  Trust 
 Nominal amount  Nominal amount 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Maturing:     
Within one year 160,000 170,000 160,000 170,000 
Between one to five years 243,473 350,000 190,000 350,000 
After five years 34,121 – – – 
 437,594 520,000 350,000 520,000 
 
At 30 September 2019, the fixed interest rates of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts 
ranged between 0.30% - 2.40% (2018: 1.65% - 2.40%) per annum. 
 
All of the Group’s interest rate swaps were designated as cash flow hedges to hedge the Group’s 
interest rate risk arising from variable rate borrowings.  
 

(b) Foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency swaps 
 
Foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency swaps are used by the Group to hedge 
its foreign currency risk on distributions to Unitholders and net investment in the subsidiaries in 
Europe. 
 
As at the reporting date, the Group and the Trust have foreign currency forward contracts and 
cross currency swaps for the following amounts: 
 
  Group and Trust 
  Nominal amount 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Maturing:    
Within one year  79,663 19,330 
Between one to five years  392,087 – 
  471,750 19,330 
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14. Cash and cash equivalents 
  Group  Trust 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
      
Cash at bank  118,192 79,180 37,419 26,646 
Fixed deposits  10,189 26,484 10,189 26,484 
  128,381 105,664 47,608 53,130 
 
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are disclosed in Note 26(a)(i). 
 
 

15. Trade and other receivables 
  Group  Trust 

  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
      
Trade receivables  845 1,231 – – 
Accrued receivables   2,568 679 – – 
Other receivables  5,184 4,679 1,207 1,029 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 

(non-trade)  – – 60,783 25,073 
Amounts due from related parties 

(non-trade)  387 968 – – 
  8,984 7,557 61,990 26,102 
Prepayments   5,192 2,134 121 52 
  14,176 9,691 62,111 26,154 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables comprise mainly rental receivables. These are secured by way of bankers’ 
guarantees or security deposits held by the Group. There is no impairment loss arising from these 
outstanding balances as the expected credit loss on them is not material.  
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and related parties 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. There is no impairment loss on these outstanding balances as the expected credit loss on 
them is not material. 
 
Credit risk 
 
The Group’s and the Trust’s exposure to credit risk on trade receivables, are disclosed in Note 26(c). 
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16. Trade and other payables 
  Group Trust 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Current      
Trade payables  7,862 3,330 705 295 
Other payables  3,203 2,842 – 70 
Accrued expenses  24,798 22,910 2,205 2,006 
Accrued capital expenditure for 

investment properties  826 2,607 – – 
Deferred income   327 327 – – 
Rental received in advance  2,614 2,764 – – 
Amounts due to subsidiaries  

(non-trade)  – – 535 25 
Amounts due to related parties  

(non-trade)  12,635 2,105 – 12 
Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests (non-trade)  952 3,519 – – 
  53,217 40,404 3,445 2,408 
Non-current   

632 
 

– Security deposits  1,867 – 
Deferred income  1,500 1,827 – – 
  3,367 2,459 – – 
      
Total trade and other payables  56,584 42,863 3,445 2,408 
 
Amounts due to subsidiaries and related parties  
 
Amounts due to subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. 
 
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  
 
Amounts due to non-controlling interests are unsecured, bear interest at 6% (2018: 6% to 8%) and 
have no fixed terms of repayment. 
 
 

17. Borrowings 
  Group  Trust 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
Current      
Bank loans      
- unsecured  113,000 170,000 113,000 170,000 
- secured  93,610 50,035 – – 
Less: Unamortised transaction costs  (373) (381) (373) (381) 
  206,237 219,654 112,627 169,619 
Non-current      
Bank loans      
- unsecured  658,565 500,925 658,565 500,925 
- secured  378,632 349,399 – – 
Less: Unamortised transaction costs  (7,642) (5,203) (7,642) (5,203) 
  1,029,555 845,121 650,923 495,722 
      
Total borrowings  1,235,792 1,064,775 763,550 665,341 
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17.  Borrowings (cont’d) 
 
Terms and debt repayment structure 
 
   Group Trust 

 
Interest rate 

range 
Year of 
maturity 

Face  
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Face  
value 

Carrying 
amount 

%  A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
2019       
AUD bank loans 2.0 to 2.3 2020 to 2024 549,120 542,480 549,120 542,480 
Euro bank loans 0.8 to 2.6 2019 to 2036 621,053 620,436 148,811 148,194 
SGD bank loans 2.5 2024 73,634 72,876 73,634 72,876 
   1,243,807 1,235,792 771,565 763,550 
2018       
AUD bank loans 2.9 to 3.1 2019 to 2023 616,000 611,359 616,000 611,359 
Euro bank loans 0.8 to 2.6 2019 to 2036 454,360 453,416 54,925 53,982 
   1,070,360 1,064,775 670,925 665,341 
 
The interest rate range disclosed above excludes the effects of the related interest rate swaps, cross 
currency swaps and amortisation of borrowing costs. 
 
The Group has facilities comprising: 
 
Available facilities Facility amount Amount drawn down 

   
Term loan facilities A$470 million A$423 million 
 (2018: A$470 million) (2018: A$470 million) 
   

 
€291 million 
(2018: €249 million) 

A$472 million (€291 million) 
(2018: A$399 million (€249 million)) 

   
Revolving credit facility 
 

A$100 million 
(2018: A$200 million) 

A$50 million 
(2018: A$146 million) 

   
Multicurrency facility 

comprising:   
   
- a term loan facility 
 

€35 million 
(2018: €35 million) 

A$57 million (€35 million)  
(2018: A$21 million (€13 million)) 

   
- a revolving credit facility 
 

€65 million  
(2018: €65 million) 

A$92 million (€57 million)  
(2018: A$34 million (€21 million)) 

Dual-currency facility 
comprising:   

   
- AUD facility 
 

A$275.6 million 
(2018: A$ Nil) 

A$76 million 
(2018: A$ Nil) 

   
- SGD facility 
 

S$129 million 
(2018: S$ Nil) 

A$74 million (S$69 million) 
(2018: A$ Nil) 

   
Multicurrency debt program S$1 billion A$ Nil 
 (2018: S$1 billion) (2018: A$ Nil) 
   
Money market line facility A$50 million A$ Nil 
 (2018: A$50 million) (2018: A$ Nil) 
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17.  Borrowings (cont’d) 
 
The secured bank loans are secured on certain investment properties (Note 10). 
 
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities were as follows: 
 
 Note Borrowings 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Group    
    
At 1 October   1,064,775 574,109 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 30 119,652 409,713 
Financing cashflows *  43,380 61,419 
Non-cash changes    
- Foreign exchange movement  5,428 17,183 
- Amortisation of debt transaction costs  2,557 2,351 
At 30 September  1,235,792 1,064,775 
    
* Cashflow from financing activities presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows include 

interest expense paid of A$24,519,000 (2018: A$21,283,000), which are included as part of Note 
16 - trade and other payables. There are no material non-cash changes associated with interest 
payables. 

 
 

18. Deferred tax liabilities 

 

At 1 
October 

2017  

Recognised 
in 

statement 
of total 
return  

(Note 7)  
Translation 
differences  

At 30 
September 

2018  

Recognised 
in 

statement 
of total 
return  

(Note 7)  
Translation 
differences  

At 30 
September 

2019 
 A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group              
              
Deferred tax 

liabilities              
Investment 

properties 16,352  20,120  102  36,574  25,908  116  62,598 

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items because it is not 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits 
therefrom: 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Deductible temporary differences  8,452 6,516 
 
The deductible temporary differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.  
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18. Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d) 
 
Under FRS 12 Income taxes, deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting or taxable profit or loss. In 2019 and 2018, the Group’s acquisition of subsidiaries 
were accounted for as acquisition of assets and not a business combination, and affected neither 
accounting nor taxable profit at the point of acquisition. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption 
in FRS 12 applies. As at 30 September 2019, the Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities of 
A$44.7 million (€28.3 million) (2018: A$24.1 million (€15.6 million)) relating to temporary differences 
on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries acquired. 
 
 

19. Non-controlling interests 
 
The non-controlling interests (NCI) relate to the following subsidiary: 
 

Name 
Principal place of business/ 

Country of incorporation 
Effective interest 

held by NCI 
  2019 2018 
  % % 
    
FLT Europe B.V. and its subsidiaries The Netherlands 5.1 to 9.9 * 5.1 to 9.9 * 
 
* This represents the effective interest held by NCI in various subsidiaries of FLTE. The non-

controlling interest in the underlying subsidiaries of FLTE are individually immaterial.  
 
The following summarised financial information of the above subsidiary is prepared in accordance 
with FRS, modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences in the Group’s accounting 
policies. 
 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
   
Revenue 65,304 20,540 
Profit and total comprehensive income 40,731 14,430 
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to NCI 2,287 906 
   
Non-current assets 1,460,192 969,554 
Current assets 70,997 40,658 
Non-current liabilities (418,679) (375,963) 
Current liabilities (679,432) (391,441) 
Net assets 433,078 242,808 
Net assets attributable to NCI 28,927 18,866 

 
 

 

Cash flows from operating activities 25,705 10,787 
Cash flows used in investing activities (303,305) (451,885) 
Cash flows from financing activities 306,682 476,424 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,082 35,326 
 
No dividend was paid to NCI from 25 May 2018 (being the date of acquisition of FLTE) to 30 
September 2018 and for the year ended 30 September 2019. 
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20. Units in issue and to be issued 
  Group and Trust 
  2019 2018 
  Number of  Number of  
  Units  Units  
  ’000 A$’000 ’000 A$’000 
Units issued      
At 1 October  2,013,918 1,837,767 1,511,477 1,350,836 
      
Creation of new Units:      
- Private placement  220,000 274,328 333,199 324,711 
- Preferential offering   – – 152,153 144,872 
- Managers’ management fees 

paid in Units  14,500 16,122 12,051 12,459 
- Managers’ acquisition fees 

paid in Units  475 515 5,038 4,889 
At 30 September  2,248,893 2,128,732 2,013,918 1,837,767 
      
Units to be issued      
Managers’ management fees 

payable in Units  7,917 10,106 7,924 8,413 
Managers’ acquisition fees 

payable in Units  2,068 2,581 283 313 
Total issuable Units  9,985 12,687 8,207 8,726 
      
Total issued and issuable Units  2,258,878 2,141,419 2,022,125 1,846,493 
      
2019 
 
During the year, the following new Units were issued:  
 
 220,000,000 Units were issued at S$1.17 per Unit as part of a private placement undertaken by 

the Trust, amounting to A$274,328,000, for cash;  
 14,499,712 Units were issued at S$1.03 to S$1.21 per Unit, amounting to A$16,122,000, as 

satisfaction of the Managers’ management fees payable in Units; and 
 475,615 Units were issued at S$1.03 to S$1.09 per Unit, amounting to A$515,000, as satisfaction 

of the Managers’ acquisition fees payable in Units arising from certain investment properties 
acquired. 
 

2018 
 
During the year, the following new Units were issued:  
 
 333,199,000 Units were issued at S$0.987 per Unit as part of a private placement undertaken by 

the Trust, amounting to A$324,711,000, for cash;  
 152,153,437 Units were issued at S$0.967 per Unit as part of a preferential offering undertaken 

by the Trust, amounting to A$144,872,000, for cash;  
 12,049,975 Units were issued at S$1.04 to S$1.13 per Unit, amounting to A$12,459,000, as 

satisfaction of the Managers’ management fees payable in Units; and 
 5,038,244 Units were issued at S$0.99 to S$1.10 per Unit, amounting to A$4,889,000, as 

satisfaction of the Managers’ acquisition fees payable in Units arising from certain investment 
properties acquired. 
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20. Units in issue and to be issued (cont’d) 
 
Each Unit in the Trust represents an undivided interest in the Trust. 
 
A holder of the Units of the Trust has no equitable or proprietary interest in the underlying assets of 
the Group and is not entitled to the transfer to it of any asset (or any part thereof) or of any real estate, 
any interest in any asset and real estate-related assets (or any part thereof) of the Group. 
 
Under the Trust Deed, every Unit carries the same voting rights. 
 
The holders of the Units are entitled to receive distributions as and when declared by the Trust.  
 
The liability of a holder of the Units is limited to the amount paid for the Units. 
 
All issued Units are fully paid. 
 
 

21. Net asset value per Unit 
  Group Trust 
  2019 2018  2019 2018 
Net asset value per Unit is based on:  
Net assets attributable to Unitholders 

(A$’000)  2,313,810 1,924,388  2,102,918 1,839,102 
       
Total issued and issuable Units at  

30 September (’000) (Note 20)  2,258,878 2,022,125  2,258,878 2,022,125 
       
Net asset value per unit (A$)  1.02 0.95  0.93 0.91 
 
 

22. Distributions paid to Unitholders 
 Group and Trust 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
Distributions paid during the year:   
Distribution of 1.68 Singapore cents per Unit for the period from 

6 July 2017 to 30 September 2017 and paid on 19 December 
2017 – 25,115 

Distribution of 3.61 Singapore cents per Unit for the period from 
1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018 and paid on 26 June 2018 – 51,768 

Distribution of 1.01 Singapore cents per Unit for the period from  
1 April 2018 to 20 May 2018 and paid on 7 August 2018 – 15,054 

Distribution of 2.57 Singapore cents per Unit for the period from  
21 May 2018 to 30 September 2018 and paid on 19 December 
2018 51,591 – 

Distribution of 3.54 Singapore cents per Unit for the period from  
1 October 2018 to 31 March 2019 and paid on 26 June 2019 73,665 – 

 125,256 91,937 
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23. Significant related party transactions 
 
In addition to the related party transactions elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant transactions between the Group and related parties took place during the financial year at 
terms agreed between parties: 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
With related parties of the Managers:   
- Acquisition of subsidiaries (321,771) (475,696) 
- Capital expenditure for investment properties under 

development – (57,470) 
- Acquisition of investment properties, land and freehold interest (126,580) (62,600) 
- Insurance expense paid/payable (950) (842) 
‐ Rental income * 3,258 – 
- Lease incentive reimbursement received/receivable 5,580 4,887 
- Interest receivable – 494 
- Reimbursements to  (1,289) (108) 
   
With the Managers:   
- Base management fees paid/payable  (12,607) (9,450) 
- Performance management fees paid/payable  (6,725) (5,330) 
- Acquisition fees paid/payable  (2,783) (4,730) 
- Divestment fees paid/payable (757) (496) 
- Reimbursements to (183) (181) 
   
With the property managers:   
- Property management fees paid/payable (3,047) (2,127) 
- Marketing services commission paid/payable (638) (783) 
   
With the Trustee:    
- Trustee fee paid/payable  (369) (284) 
    
With the HAUT Trustee:    
- Trustee fee paid/payable  (70) (55) 
 
*  In relation to assignment of remaining lease term of 2 properties. 
 
 

24. Commitments 
 
(a) Capital commitments 

 
Capital and development expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised in the financial statements are as follows: 
 
  Group 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
Capital commitments in respect of:   
- Investment properties  1,012 2,721 
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24.  Commitments (cont’d) 
 

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessee 
 
The Group has entered into ground leases for certain investment properties. The operating 
leases are based on a fixed component of rent payable under the ground lease agreements, 
adjusted for increases in ground lease where such increases have been provided for under the 
ground lease agreements.  
 
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: 
 
  Group 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
   
Within 1 year 6,286 5,415 
From 1 year to 5 years 26,418 22,737 
After 5 years 492,847 503,223 
 525,551 531,375 
   
Ground lease expenses on the Group’s investment properties for the year is disclosed in Note 
4. 
 

(c) Operating lease commitments – as lessor 
 
The Group leases warehouse and logistics facilities under operating leases. The operating lease 
receivables are based on the fixed component of the rent receivable under the lease 
agreements, adjusted for increases in rent where such increases have been provided for under 
the lease agreements. 
 
Future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the 
reporting period is as follows: 
 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000 
    
Within 1 year  223,508 196,430 
From 1 year to 5 years  723,229 680,706 
After 5 years  624,794 663,726 
  1,571,531 1,540,862 
    
Rental income from investment properties for the year is disclosed in Note 3. 
 
 

25. Operating segments 
 
The Group has two reportable segments, which are Australia and Europe. Each segment is managed 
separately because of the differences in operating and regulatory environment. All the segments 
relate to properties used or predominantly used for logistics or industrial properties. For each of the 
reporting segments, the Board of Directors of the Manager reviews internal management reports on 
a regular basis.  
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25. Operating segments (cont’d) 
 
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is 
measured based on segment net property income, as included in the internal management reports 
that are reviewed by the Board of Directors of the Manager. Segment net property income is used to 
measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in 
evaluating the results of its segments relative to other entities that operate within the same industry. 
 
Information about reportable segments 
 
 Australia Europe Total 
 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
2019    
Revenue 175,454 65,304 240,758 
Property operating expenses (34,066) (7,341) (41,407) 
Reportable segment net property income 141,388 57,963 199,351 
    
Finance income 1,161 – 1,161 
Finance costs (18,634) (9,248) (27,882) 
Unallocated items:    
- Expenses   (25,935) 
Net income   146,695 
Gain on divestment of investment properties 1,649 – 1,649 
Net change in fair value of investment properties  100,657 21,332 121,989 
Net change in fair value of derivatives   2,101 
Tax expense   (44,530) 
Total return for the year   227,904 
    
Capital expenditure 11,352 176 11,528 
Non-current assets (1) 2,093,950 1,460,192 3,554,142 
 
2018    
Revenue 175,226 20,540 195,766 
Property operating expenses (31,706) (2,269) (33,975) 
Reportable segment net property income 143,520 18,271 161,791 
    
Finance income 1,321 – 1,321 
Finance costs (20,334) (3,471) (23,805) 
Unallocated items:    
- Expenses   (23,518) 
Net income   115,789 
Gain on divestment of investment properties 23,446 – 23,446 
Net change in fair value of investment properties  54,380 18,031 72,411 
Net change in fair value of derivatives   2,349 
Tax expense   (34,361) 
Total return for the year   179,634 
    
Capital expenditure 38,721 992 39,713 
Non-current assets (1) 2,008,650 969,554 2,978,204 
    
(1) Excluding financial assets    
 
There is no tenant that contributed more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue in 2019. In 2018, 
revenue from one tenant in the Australian segment contributed 12.4% to the Group’s total revenue. 
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26. Financial risk management 
 
Risk management is integral to the business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in 
place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing 
the risks. The Manager continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an 
appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.  
 
The Manager is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk 
management for the Group. This is supported by comprehensive internal processes and procedures 
which are formalised in the Manager’s organisational and reporting structure, operating manuals and 
delegation of authority guidelines.  
 
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee of the Manager oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of 
the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes 
both regular and adhoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. The Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee then reports to the Board of Directors on any inadequacies, deficiencies or matters of 
concern of which the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee becomes aware or that it suspects, 
arising from its review of the Group’s risk management policies and procedures. 
 
(a) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates, will affect the Group’s total return and unitholders’ funds. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 
while optimising the return on risk. 
 
(i) Foreign currency risk 

 
The entities within the Group normally conduct their business in their respective functional 
currencies. 
 
The Group’s foreign currency risk mainly relates to cash and cash equivalents, trade and 
other receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings, that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies 
in which these transactions primarily are denominated are the Euro (€) and Singapore 
Dollars (S$). The Manager monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure on an ongoing 
basis and limits its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates by using 
derivative financial instruments or other suitable financial products, where appropriate. 
 
It is the Manager’s policy to hedge the Group’s anticipated foreign currency exposure in 
respect of its distributions to Unitholders at least six months forward by using foreign 
currency forward contracts.  
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(a) Market risk (cont’d) 
 
(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 

 
During the financial year, the Group entered into cross currency swaps to hedge against 
the currency risk arising from the Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries. 
 
The Group uses cross currency swaps to hedge its currency risk. The Group’s policy is to 
align the terms of the cross currency swaps with the hedged item. The Group determines 
the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged 
item based on the currency and amount of their respective cash flows.  
 
The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship is 
expected to be and has been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged 
item using the hypothetical derivative method.  
 
The exposure of the Group and the Trust to Euro and Singapore dollar in Australian dollar 
equivalent is as follows:  
  
 Group 
 2019 2018 

 € S$ € S$ 
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 

     
Cash and cash equivalents 237 11,327 72 22,873 
Trade and other receivables  62 1,264 – 1,028 
Trade and other payables (807) (918) – (2,386) 
Borrowings  (148,194) (72,876) (53,982) – 
Net statement of financial 
position exposure (148,702) (61,203) (53,910) 21,515 
Less: Cross currency swaps – 72,758 – – 
Net currency exposure (148,702) 11,555 (53,910) 21,515 
     
 Trust 
 2019 2018 

 € S$ € S$ 

 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents 237 11,327 72 22,873 
Trade and other receivables  388 1,321 – 1,028 
Trade and other payables (807) (918) – (2,386) 
Borrowings  (148,194) (72,876) (53,982) – 
Net statement of financial 
position exposure (148,376) (61,146) (53,910) 21,515 
Less: Cross currency swaps – 72,758 – – 
Net currency exposure (148,376) 11,612 (53,910) 21,515 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(a) Market risk (cont’d) 

 
(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 

 
In addition, as at 30 September 2019, the Group and the Trust had cross currency swaps 
with nominal amount of approximately A$319.3 million (2018: A$Nil) which are designated 
as net investment hedges (Note 26(b)(ii)) and outstanding foreign currency forward 
contracts with nominal amount of approximately A$82.0 million (2018: A$7.3 million) to 
hedge future payments of distribution.  
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
In 2019, a 1% strengthening/weakening of the Australian dollar against the Euro and the 
Singapore dollar would increase/(decrease) total return and unitholders’ funds (before any 
tax effects) of the Group and the Trust by the amounts shown below.  This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 
  Group Trust 

 Total return 
Unitholders’ 

Funds Total return 
 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 
2019    
    
Euro (1% strengthening) (1,487) 3,193 1,710 
Singapore dollar (1% strengthening) 936 – 936 
    
Euro (1% weakening) 1,487  (3,193) (1,710) 
Singapore dollar (1% weakening) (936)  – (936) 
    
In 2018, a 1% strengthening/weakening of the Australian dollar against the Euro and the 
Singapore dollar did not have a significant effect on total return and unitholders’ funds. 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk  
 
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that at least 50% of its interest rate risk exposure is 
at a fixed rate. This is achieved partly by entering into fixed-rate instruments and partly by 
borrowing at a floating rate and using interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in cash 
flows.   
 
The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item based on the reference interest rates, tenors, repricing dates 
and maturities and the notional or par amounts.  
 
The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship is 
expected to be effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item using the 
hypothetical derivative method.  
 
In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are: 
•  the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the 

swaps, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows 
attributable to the change in interest rates; and  

•  differences in repricing dates between the swaps and the borrowings.  
 
As at the reporting date, the Group and the Trust have outstanding interest rate swaps with 
a total nominal amount of A$437.6 million (2018: A$520.0 million) and A$350.0 million 
(2018: A$520.0 million) respectively (Note 13). 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(a) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 
Exposure to interest rate risk 
 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments, as reported to the management, was as follows: 
 
  Group Trust 
  Nominal amount Nominal amount 
  2019 2018  2019 2018 
  A$’000 A$’000  A$’000 A$’000 
Fixed rate instruments       
Financial assets  – –  1,006,321 1,072,554 
Financial liabilities  (356,080) (355,680)  – – 
Effect of interest rate swaps  (437,594) (520,000)  (350,000) (520,000) 
  (793,674) (875,680)  656,321 552,554 
       
Variable rate instruments       
Financial assets  128,381 105,664  47,608 53,130 
Financial liabilities   (887,727) (714,680)  (771,565) (670,925) 
Effect of interest rate swaps  437,594 520,000  350,000 520,000 
  (321,752) (89,016)  (373,957) (97,795) 
       

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
 
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL, and 
the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments 
under a fair value hedge accounting model.  Therefore, in respect of the fixed rate 
instruments, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect total return. 
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 
A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) 
total return and unitholders’ funds (before any tax effect) by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain 
constant. 
 
 Total return  Unitholders’ funds 
 1%  1% 1%  1% 
 increase  decrease increase  decrease 
 A$'000  A$'000 A$'000  A$'000 
Group        
2019        
Variable rate 

instruments not 
hedged  (3,218)  3,218  –  – 

Interest rate swaps –  –  4,720  (10,656) 
Cash flow sensitivity 

(net) (3,218)  3,218  4,720  (10,656) 

   



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

70 

26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(a) Market risk (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments (cont’d) 
 
 Total return  Unitholders’ funds 
 1%  1% 1%  1% 
 increase  decrease increase  decrease 
 A$'000  A$'000 A$'000  A$'000 
Group       
2018       
Variable rate 

instruments not 
hedged  (890)  890  –  – 

Interest rate swaps –  –  8,816  (9,130) 
Cash flow sensitivity 

(net) (890)  890  8,816  (9,130) 
 
Trust        
2019        
Variable rate 

instruments not 
hedged  (3,740)  3,740  –  – 

Interest rate swaps –  –  4,744  (4,891) 
Cash flow sensitivity 

(net) (3,740)  3,740  4,744  (4,891) 
        
2018        
Variable rate 

instruments not 
hedged  (978)  978  –  – 

Interest rate swaps –  –  8,816  (9,130) 
Cash flow sensitivity 

(net) (978)  978  8,816  (9,130) 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(b) Hedge accounting  

 
(i) Cash flow hedges 

 
At 30 September 2019, the Group and the Trust held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in foreign currency and interest 
rates. 

  ------------------- Carrying amount ------------------ 

Changes in fair value used for  
---- calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness ---  

  

Contractual 
notional 
amount 

Assets/ 
(Liabilities) 

Financial 
statement 

line item 
Hedging 

instrument Hedged item 

Weighted 
average 

hedge rate Maturity date 
  A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000   
Cash flow hedges         
         
Group          
Interest rate risk         
– Interest rate swaps to 

hedge floating rate 
borrowings  437,594 (9,333) 

Derivative 
financial 
liabilities (7,966) 7,966 1.61% 2020 - 2025 

Foreign exchange risk         
– Cross currency swaps to 

hedge foreign currency 
borrowings  72,758 561 

Derivative 
financial 

assets 561 (561) – 2024 
         
Trust         
Interest rate risk         
– Interest rate swaps to 

hedge floating rate 
borrowings  350,000 (6,306) 

Derivative 
financial 
liabilities (6,984) 6,984 1.88% 2020 - 2023 

         
 



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

72 

26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(b) Hedge accounting (cont’d) 

 
(i) Cash flow hedges (cont’d) 

 
The following table provides a reconciliation by risk category of components of unitholders’ 
funds resulting from cash flow hedge accounting. 
 
  Group Trust 
  2019 
  Hedging reserve 
  A$’000 A$’000 
Group    
Balance as at 1 October  713 713 
Cash flow hedges    
Change in fair value    
 Interest rate risk  (7,966) (6,984) 
Balance as at 30 September   (7,253) (6,271) 
    

(ii) Net investment hedge 
 
A foreign currency exposure arises from the Group’s net investments in its subsidiaries in 
Europe that have a EUR functional currency. The risk arises from the fluctuation in spot 
exchange rates between the EUR and the AUD, which causes the amount of the net 
investments to vary. 
 
The hedged risk in the net investment hedge is the risk of a weakening EUR against the 
AUD that will result in a reduction in the carrying amount of the Group’s net investments in 
its subsidiaries in Europe. 
 
Part of the Group’s net investment in subsidiaries in Europe are hedged through the use 
of cross currency swaps. The Group entered into cross currency swaps to swap floating 
rate AUD obligations for floating rate EUR obligations. No ineffectiveness was recognised 
on the net investment hedge. The Group’s investments in other subsidiaries are not 
hedged. 
 
At the end of the financial year, the Group have designated a portion of the net investments 
in the subsidiaries, with a carrying amount of A$319.3 million (2018: A$Nil) as net 
investment hedges, which mitigate the currency risk arising from certain subsidiaries’ net 
assets. As at 30 September 2019, a cumulative net foreign exchange gain of A$143,000 
(2018: A$Nil) in respect of the European net investment hedges remained in unitholders’ 
funds. 
 
To assess hedge effectiveness, the Group determine the economic relationship between 
the hedge instrument and the hedge item by adopting criticial term match method. Critical 
term match method would be applied to assess qualitatively the economic relationship 
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. The hedged item and the hedging 
instrument are expected to move in opposite directions as a result of a change in the 
hedged risk. 
  



FRASERS LOGISTICS & INDUSTRIAL TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

73 

26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(c) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty 
to settle its financial and contractual obligations with the Group, as and when they fall due.  
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due 
to increased credit risk exposure. 
 
Trade receivables  
 
The Manager monitors the amounts owing by lessees on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations 
are performed by the Manager before lease agreements are entered into with the lessees. Credit 
risk is also mitigated by the bankers’ guarantees or security deposits held for each lessee. 
 
At 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018, there was no significant concentration of credit 
risk.  The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of 
financial assets in the statement of financial position, before taking into account security 
deposits held as collateral. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
 
The exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical region 
was as follows: 
 
Exposure by segment Group 
 2019 2018 
 A$’000 A$’000 
   
Australia 567 946 
Europe 278 285 
 845 1,231 
   
Expected credit loss assessment for individual tenants as at 1 October 2018 and 
30 September 2019 
 
The group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables from individual 
tenants. 
 
Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable 
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated 
separately for exposures in different segments (geographic region) based on actual credit loss 
experience over the past years. These rates are adjusted by scalar factors to reflect differences 
between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, 
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 
receivables. 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(c) Credit risk (cont’d) 

 
Expected credit loss assessment for individual tenants as at 1 October 2018 and 
30 September 2019 (cont’d) 
 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables as at 30 September 2019:  
   Group 

  

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

  A$’000 
   
Current (not past due)  518 
1 – 30 days past due  98 
31 – 90 days past due  104 
More than 90 days past due  125 
  845 
 
The Manager believes that no allowance for impairment is necessary in respect of the trade 
receivables as these receivables relate mainly to tenants that have a good record with the Group 
or have sufficient security deposits as collateral, and hence ECL is negligible. 
 
Comparative information applying the principles under FRS 39 
 
The ageing of trade receivables is as follows: 
 
  Group 
  2018 
  A$’000 
   
Current (not past due)  1,163 
1 – 30 days past due  54 
31 – 90 days past due  14 
  1,231 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and fixed deposits are placed with financial institutions which are regulated.  Investments 
and transactions involving derivative financial instruments are allowed only with counterparties 
who have sound credit ratings.  
 
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 1-day expected loss basis 
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash 
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The 
amount of the allowance on cash and cash equivalents is negligible. 
 
Derivatives 
 
Derivative financial instruments are only entered into with banks and financial counterparties 
with sound credit ratings. The credit risk related to derivative financial instruments arises from 
the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the contracts. It is the 
Group’s policy to enter into derivative financial instrument transactions with credit worthy 
counterparties. 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
(d) Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds. The Manager maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and has 
unutilised committed facilities for drawdown deemed adequate to finance the Group’s operations 
for a reasonable period, including the servicing of financing obligations, and to mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition, the Manager also monitors and observes the 
CCIS issued by the MAS concerning limits on total borrowings.  
 
As at the end of the financial year, the Group maintains several lines of credit (Note 17). 
 
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities. The amounts are 
gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of 
netting agreements.  
 
   Cash flows 
          

 
Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  

Within one 
year  

Between 
one and five 

years  
More than 
five years 

 A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group      
2019      
      
Non-derivative 

financial 
liabilities      

Trade and other 
payables * 52,143 (52,143) (50,276) – (1,867) 

Borrowings 1,235,792 (1,317,397) (227,588) (895,643) (194,166) 
 1,287,935 (1,369,540) (277,864) (895,643) (196,033) 
Derivative financial 

instruments      
Interest rate swaps 

used for hedging 
(net-settled) 9,333 (8,220) (3,734) (4,409) (77) 

Foreign currency 
forward contracts 
(gross-settled) (2,070)     

- outflow  (80,006) (80,006) – – 
- inflow  82,024 82,024 – – 
Cross currency 

swaps used for 
hedging (gross-
settled) (704)     

- outflow  (426,512) (1,745) (424,767) – 
- inflow  426,529 6,048 420,481 – 
 6,559 (6,185) 2,587 (8,695) (77) 
      
 1,294,494 (1,375,725) (275,277) (904,338) (196,110) 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

   Cash flows 

 
Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  

Within one 
year  

Between one 
and five 

years  
More than 
five years 

 A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group      
2018      
      
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities      
Trade and other 

payables * 37,945 (37,945) (37,313) – (632) 
Borrowings 1,064,775 (1,151,168) (244,926) (749,945) (156,297) 
 1,102,720 (1,189,113) (282,239) (749,945) (156,929) 
Derivative financial 

instruments      
Interest rate swaps 

used for hedging 
(net-settled) (713) 748 (221) 969 – 

Foreign currency 
forward contracts  
(gross-settled) 65     

- outflow  (19,540) (19,540) – – 
- inflow  19,463 19,463 – – 
 (648) 671 (298) 969 – 
      
 1,102,072 (1,188,442) (282,537) (748,976) (156,929) 

 
      Cash flows 

 
 Carrying 

amount  
Contractual 
cash flows  

Within one 
year  

Between one 
and five years 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust       
2019       
       
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities       
Trade and other payables  3,445  (3,445) (3,445)  – 
Borrowings  763,550  (813,904) (125,623)  (688,281) 
 766,995  (817,349) (129,068)  (688,281) 
Derivative financial 

instruments  
      

Interest rate swaps used for 
hedging (net-settled)  6,306  (6,374) (3,400)  (2,974) 

Foreign currency forward 
contracts (gross-settled)  (2,070)      

- outflow   (80,006) (80,006)  – 
- inflow   82,024 82,024  – 
Cross currency swaps used for 

hedging (gross-settled) (704)      
- outflow   (426,512) (1,745)  (424,767) 
- inflow   426,529 6,048  420,481 
 3,532  (4,339) 2,921  (7,260) 
       
 770,527  (821,688) (126,147)  (695,541) 
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26. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
      Cash flows 

 
 Carrying 

amount  
Contractual 
cash flows  

Within one 
year  

Between one 
and five years 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust       
2018       
       
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities 
 

     
Trade and other payables   2,408 (2,408)  (2,408) – 
Borrowings   665,341 (712,258)  (187,039) (525,219) 
  667,749 (714,666)  (189,447) (525,219) 
Derivative financial 

instruments  
      

Interest rate swaps used for 
hedging (net-settled)  

 
(713) 748  (221) 969 

Foreign currency forward  
     contracts (gross-settled) 

 
65     

- outflow   (19,540)  (19,540) – 
- inflow   19,463  19,463 – 
  (648) 671  (298) 969 
       
  667,101 (713,995)  (189,745) (524,250) 

 
* Excluding deferred income and rental received in advance 
 
The maturity analyses above show the contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s 
financial liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. Derivative financial 
instruments held are usually not closed out prior to contractual maturity. The disclosure shows 
net cash flow amounts for derivatives that are net cash-settled and gross cash inflow and outflow 
amounts for derivatives that have simultaneous gross cash settlement. The interest payments 
on floating rate borrowings in the table above reflect market forward interest rates at the year 
end and these amounts may change as market interest rates changes. The future cash flows 
on derivative instruments may be different from the amounts in the above table as interest rates 
change. Except for these financial liabilities, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the 
maturity analyses could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 
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27. Fair values of financial instruments   
 

(a) Classifications and fair values 
 
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy are as follows. It does not 
include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. 
 
  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Amortised 

cost  

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group           
           
30 September 
2019           
           
Financial assets 

measured at 
fair value           

Foreign currency 
forward 
contracts 13 – 2,070 – – 2,070 – 2,070 – 2,070 

Cross currency 
swaps 13 – 637 1,480 – 2,117 – 2,117 – 2,117 

           
  – 2,707 1,480 – 4,187     
Financial assets 

not measured 
at fair value           

Cash and cash 
equivalents 14 128,381 – – – 128,381     

Trade and other 
receivables * 15 8,984 – – – 8,984     

  137,365 – – – 137,365     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 
(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 

 
  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Amortised 

cost  

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group           
           
30 September 
2019           
           
Financial 

liabilities 
measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate 
swaps 13 – – (9,333) – (9,333) – (9,333) – (9,333) 

Cross currency 
swaps 13 – (76) (1,337) – (1,413) – (1,413) – (1,413) 

  – (76) (10,670) – (10,746)     
Financial 

liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value           

Trade and other 
payables ** 16 – – – (52,143) (52,143)     

Borrowings  17 – – – (1,235,792) (1,235,792) – – (1,277,605) (1,277,605) 
  – – – (1,287,935) (1,287,935)     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 
(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Loans and 

receivables  

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group           
           
30 September 
2018           
           
Financial assets 

measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate 
swaps 13 – – 1,333 – 1,333 – 1,333 – 1,333 

Foreign currency 
forward 
contracts 13 – 83 – – 83 – 83 – 83 

           
  – 83 1,333 – 1,416     
Financial assets 

not measured 
at fair value           

Cash and cash 
equivalents 14 105,664 – – – 105,664     

Trade and other 
receivables * 15 7,557 – – – 7,557     

  113,221 – – – 113,221     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 

(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 
 

 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Loans and 

receivables  

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Group           
           
30 September 
2018           
           
Financial 

liabilities 
measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate 
swaps 13 – – (620) – (620) – (620) – (620) 

Foreign currency 
forward 
contracts 13 – (148) – – (148) – (148) – (148) 

  – (148) (620) – (768)     
Financial 

liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value           

Trade and other 
payables ** 16 – – – (37,945) (37,945)     

Borrowings  17 – – – (1,064,775) (1,064,775) – – (1,065,815) (1,065,815) 
  – – – (1,102,720) (1,102,720)     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 

(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 
 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Amortised 

cost  

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust           
           
30 September 
2019           
           
Financial assets 

measured at 
fair value           

Foreign currency 
forward contracts 13 – 2,070 – – 2,070 – 2,070 – 2,070 
Cross currency 

swaps 13 – 2,117 – – 2,117 – 2,117 – 2,117 
  – 4,187 – – 4,187     
Financial assets 

not measured 
at fair value           

Loans to 
subsidiaries  1,848,932 – – – 1,848,932 – – 1,938,359 1,938,359 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 14 47,608 – – – 47,608     

Trade and other 
receivables * 15 61,990 – – – 61,990     

  1,958,530 – – – 1,958,530     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 

(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 
 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Amortised 

cost  

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust           
           
30 September 
2019           
           
Financial 

liabilities 
measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate swaps 13 – – (6,306) – (6,306) – (6,306) – (6,306) 
Cross currency 

swaps 13 – (1,413) – – (1,413) – (1,413) – (1,413) 
  – (1,413) (6,306) – (7,719)     
Financial 

liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value           

Trade and other 
payables  16 – – – (3,445) (3,445)     

Borrowings  17 – – – (763,550) (763,550)     
  – – – (766,995) (766,995)     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 

(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 
 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Loans and 

receivables  

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust           
           
30 September 
2018           
           
Financial assets 

measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate 
swaps 13 – – 1,333 – 1,333 – 1,333 – 1,333 

Foreign currency 
forward 
contracts 13 – 83 – – 83 – 83 – 83 

  – 83 1,333 – 1,416     
Financial assets 

not measured 
at fair value           

Loans to 
subsidiaries  1,568,967 – – – 1,568,967 – – 1,590,515 1,590,515 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 14 53,130 – – – 53,130     

Trade and other 
receivables * 15 26,102 – – – 26,102     

  1,648,199 – – – 1,648,199     
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 

(a) Classifications and fair values (cont’d) 
 

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Note 
Loans and 

receivables  

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss  

Fair value – 
hedging 

instruments  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000  A$’000 
Trust           
           
30 September 
2018           
           
Financial 

liabilities 
measured at 
fair value           

Interest rate 
swaps 13 – – (620) – (620) – (620) – (620) 

Foreign currency 
forward 
contracts 13 – (148) – – (148) – (148) – (148) 

  – (148) (620) – (768)     
Financial 

liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value           

Trade and other 
payables  16 – – – (2,408) (2,408)     

Borrowings  17 – – – (665,341) (665,341)     
  – – – (667,749) (667,749)     
           
* Excluding prepayments 
**  Excluding deferred income and rental received in advance 
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27. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)  
 
(b) Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 

 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair 
values.  
 

Type  Valuation techniques 
   
Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 
Group and Trust 
Interest rate swaps, foreign currency  

forward contracts and cross currency swaps 
 

  
 
 
Market comparison technique:  
The fair values are based on broker quotes. 
Similar contracts are traded in an active 
market and the quotes reflect the actual 
transactions in similar instruments. 

Financial instruments not measured at fair 
value 
 
Group 
Borrowings 
 

  
 
 
Discounted cash flows:  
The fair values are based on the present 
value of future payments, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the measurement 
date.  
 

Trust 
Loans to subsidiaries 
 

  
Discounted cash flows: 
The fair values are based on the present 
value of future receipts, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the measurement 
date. 

 
There were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.  

 
 

28. Capital management  
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains an optimal 
capital structure to support the business and maximise Unitholders’ value.  
 
Under the Property Fund Guidelines of the CCIS, the aggregate leverage ratio should not exceed 
45.0% of the Group’s deposited property.  
 
The aggregate leverage ratio is calculated as gross borrowings divided by total assets, based on the 
latest valuations. 
  Group 
  2019 2018 
    
Total borrowings (gross) (Note 17) (A$’000)  1,243,807 1,070,360 
Total assets (A$’000)  3,718,886 3,094,975 
Aggregate leverage (%)  33.4 34.6 
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28. Capital management (cont’d) 
 
The Group was in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years 
ended 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018.  
 
There were no substantial changes in the Group’s and the Trust’s approach to capital management 
during the year. 
 
 

29. Financial ratios 
  2019 2018 
  % % 
Expense to weighted average net assets (1)    
- with performance fee of Managers   1.14 1.06 
- without performance fee of Managers  0.81 0.74 
Expense to net asset value (2)  2.74 2.63 
Portfolio turnover ratio (3)  7.24 4.63 
    
(1) The expense ratios are computed in accordance with the guidelines of the Investment Manager Association 

of Singapore. The expenses used in the computation relate to the expenses of the Group, excluding property 
expenses, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and tax expense of the Group. 

 
(2) The expense ratio is computed based on total operating expense, including property expenses and all fees 

and charges paid/payable to the Managers and the interested parties as a percentage of net asset value as 
at the end of the financial year. 

 
(3) The portfolio turnover ratios are computed based on the lesser of purchases or sales of underlying investment 

properties of the Group expressed as a percentage of daily average net asset value.  
 
 

30. Acquisition of subsidiaries 
 

In 2019, the Group acquired equity interests in nine property holding companies which held interests 
in eight freehold logistics properties located in Germany for a total consideration of A$321.8 million 
(€198.8 million).  
 

In 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the equity interest in FLTE Group for a total consideration of 
A$475.7 million (€308.2 million).   
 

The acquisitions were accounted for as acquisition of assets. 
 

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
the date of acquisition.  

  Group 
  A$’000 A$’000 
  2019 2018 
    
Investment properties   458,991 905,099 
Trade and other receivables  1,777 4,401 
Cash at bank  18,642 17,916 
Trade and other payables  (30,353) (24,763) 
Borrowings  (119,652) (409,713) 
Shareholders’ loans  (181,188) (267,845) 
Total identifiable net assets  148,217 225,095 
Less: Non-controlling interest, based on their proportionate

interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and
liabilities of the acquiree  (7,634) (17,244) 

Identifiable net assets acquired  140,583 207,851 
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30. Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

   Group 
   A$’000 A$’000 
   2019 2018 
Consideration transferred  

 
Cash paid 

 
321,771 475,696 

    
Effect of the acquisition on cash flows    

    
Consideration for equity interest  140,583 207,851 
Add: Shareholders’ loans assumed  181,188 267,845 

  321,771 475,696 
Add: Acquisition costs incurred  980 2,981 
Less: Cash at bank of subsidiaries acquired  (18,642) (17,916) 
Net cash outflow  304,109 460,761 

 
 

31. Subsequent events 
 
There were the following significant events subsequent to the reporting date:  
 

 On 23 October 2019, the Manager declared a distribution of 2.45 Singapore cents per Unit to 
Unitholders in respect of the period from 1 April 2019 to 7 August 2019, amounting to A$52.2 
million. 

 

 On 6 November 2019, the Manager declared a distribution of 1.01 Singapore cents per Unit to 
Unitholders in respect of the period from 8 August 2019 to 30 September 2019, amounting to 
A$24.0 million. 

 

 On 11 November 2019, the following Units were issued:  
 

In payment of 
Period to which the 

fees relate to 
Issue price per 

Unit 
Number of 

Units issued 
   ’000 
Managers’ management fees     
    
‐ Base fee 1 July 2019 to 30 

September 2019 S$1.21 2,609 
    
‐ Performance fee  1 October 2018 to 30 

September 2019 S$1.21 5,307 
    
   7,916 

 

 2,067,968 Units were issued at an issue price of S$1.17 per Unit as payment of acquisition fees 
in respect of the Group’s acquisition of (i) three Australian properties, and (ii) interests in seven 
German properties, during the year ended 30 September 2019. 
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32. List of subsidiaries  
 

Name of subsidiaries Principal activity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Principal 
place of 

business 
Effective interest 
held by the Trust 

    2019 2018 
    % % 
Direct subsidiaries      
FLT Australia Pte. Ltd (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 100.0 
FLT Treasury Pte. Ltd (1) Provision of treasury 

service 
Singapore Singapore 100.0 100.0 

FLT Europe Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 100.0 
FLT Europe Treasury Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 100.0 
FLT Europe 1 Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 100.0 
FLT Europe 2 Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 – 
FLT Europe 3 Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore Singapore 100.0 – 
FLT Australia Trust (2) (3) Investment holding Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
FLT Landowner Pty Limited (2) Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
FLT Queensland No. 1 Pty 

Limited (2)  
Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 2 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 3 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 4 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 5 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 6 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 7 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 8 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 9 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

FLT Queensland No. 10 Pty 
Limited (2) 

Trustee Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 

 
Indirect subsidiaries      
Atlantic Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Atlantic Drive Trust C (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Atlantic Drive Trust D (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Aylesbury Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Bam Wine Court Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Boundary Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Boundary Road Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Butler Boulevard Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Butler Boulevard Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Butler Boulevard Trust C (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Coghlan Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Distribution Place Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Doriemus Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Douglas Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Earnshaw Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Efficient Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Efficient Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
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32. List of subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

Name of subsidiaries Principal activity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Principal place 

of business 
Effective interest 
held by the Trust 

    2019 2018 
    % % 
Indirect subsidiaries (cont’d)      
Eucalyptus Place Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Flint Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Gibbon Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Hanson Place Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 – 
Hartley Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Heatherton Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Horsley Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Horsley Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Horsley Drive Trust C (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Hudson Court Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Hudson Court Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 – 
Indian Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Indian Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Jets Court Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Jets Court Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Kangaroo Avenue Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Kangaroo Avenue Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Kangaroo Avenue Trust C (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Link Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Pacific Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Pacific & Atlantic Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Paltridge Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Pearson Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Pearson Road Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Platinum Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Queensport Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Reconciliation Rise Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Reconciliation Rise Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Sandstone Place Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Shettleston Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Siltstone Place Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Sky Road East Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Sky Road East Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Centre Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Park Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Park Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Park Drive Trust C (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Park Drive Trust D (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
South Park Drive Trust E (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Springhill Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Stanton Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Stanton Road Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Station Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Stradbroke Street Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Sunline Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Sunline Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
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32. List of subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

Name of subsidiaries Principal activity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Principal place 

of business 
Effective interest 
held by the Trust 

    2019 2018 
    % % 
Indirect subsidiaries (cont’d)      
Wayne Goss Drive Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
Wayne Goss Drive Trust B (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 – 
Wellington Road Trust A (2) Property investment Australia Australia 100.0 100.0 
FLT Europe B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
Al Gewerbepark Obertshausen 

GmbH  
Property investment Luxembourg The Netherlands 94.0 – 

Al Gewerbepark Ratingen 
GmbH 

Property investment Luxembourg  The Netherlands 94.0 – 

Al Gewerbepark Tamm GmbH Property investment Luxembourg  The Netherlands 94.0 – 
BV Maschinen GmbH  Investment holding Luxembourg  The Netherlands 100.0 – 
CCP IV Garching S.à.r.l. Property investment Luxembourg  The Netherlands 94.0 – 
FLT Achern GmbH (2) Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.0 94.0 
FLT INV 1 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 2 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 3 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 4 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 5 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 6 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 7 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 8 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 9 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 10 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 11 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 12 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 13 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT INV 14 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 15 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 16 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 17 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 18 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 19 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 20 B.V. (2) Investment holding The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
FLT INV 21 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.0 – 
FLT INV 23 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 – 
FLT INV 24 B.V. (2) Property investment The Netherlands The Netherlands 94.9 – 
FLT Marl GmbH (formerly 

known as Geneba RE 1 
GmbH) (2) 

Investment holding Germany The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 

FLT Marl GmbH & Co. KG  
(formerly known as GRE 1 
Schwerte-Marl GmbH &  
Co. KG) (2) 

Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 

FLT Moosthenning 1 GmbH (2) Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.8 94.8 
FLT Moosthenning 2 GmbH (2) Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.8 94.8 
FLT Moosthenning (SP)  

GmbH (2) 
Property investment Germany The Netherlands 100.0 100.0 
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32. List of subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

Name of subsidiaries Principal activity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Principal place 

of business 
Effective interest 
held by the Trust 

    2019 2018 
    % % 
Indirect subsidiaries (cont’d)      
FLT Nuremberg GmbH 

(formerly known as 
Greenfield LogistikPark 
Nürnberg GmbH) (2) 

Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.0 94.0 

FLT Rheinberg GmbH (2) Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.9 94.9 
FLT Vaihingen GmbH 

(formerly known as 
Greenfield LogistikPark 
Vaihingen-Ost GmbH) (2) 

Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.0 94.0 

Gewerbepark Bergheim  
GmbH (2) 

Property investment Luxembourg The Netherlands 94.0 – 

Greenfield Logistikpark 
Freiberg GmbH (2) 

Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.8 94.8 

LogProject Isenbuttel  
   GmbH (2) 

Property investment Germany The Netherlands 94.8 94.8 

SMR2 Verwaltungs GmbH (2) Property investment Germany The Netherlands 90.1 90.1 
 

(1) Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore.  

(2) Audited by other member firms of KPMG International.  

(3) Held by the Trust and FLT Australia Pte. Ltd. with equity interest of 50% each. 

 


